
   

Audit Committee Meeting 
Thursday, June 12, 2025 4:30 p.m. 
Norfolk Room, Education Centre 
 

AGENDA 
 

 

A - 1 Opening/Call to Order (Chair) 
 (a) Roll Call  
 (b) Declaration of Conflict of Interest 
 (c) Welcome to Open Session / Land Acknowledgement Statement 

The Grand Erie District School Board recognizes Six Nations of the Grand River and Mississaugas of the Credit First 
Nation, as the longstanding peoples of this territory. We honour, recognize, and respect these communities as well 
as all First Nations, Métis and Inuit Peoples who reside within the Grand Erie District School Board. We are all 
stewards of these lands and waters where we now gather, learn and play, and commit to working together in the 
spirit of Reconciliation. 

 (d) Approval of Agenda (Additions/Deletions) 
Recommended Motion: “That the Audit Committee agenda be approved” 

  
B - 1 Consent Agenda (Chair) 

* (a) March 6, 2025 Minutes 
* (b) Consolidated Due Diligence Report 
* (c) Q2 Financial Forecast 
* (d) Core Ed Debrief 
* (e) AI in Education 

 

Recommended Motion: “THAT the Audit Committee accepts the June 12, 2025 Consent Agenda and the 
recommendations contained therein: 
(a) Minutes of the Audit Committee dated March 6, 2025 be approved. 
(b) Receive Consolidated Due Diligence Report. 
(c) Receive Q2 Financial Forecast. 
(d) Receive Core Ed Debrief. 
(e) Receive AI in Education.” 

  
C - 1 Business Arising from Minutes and/or Previous Meetings 

* (a) Audit Reports – Recommendations Tracking (R. Wyszynski) 
  

D - 1 Internal Audit 
 (a) Attendance Support Program Needs Assessment (KPMG) 

* 
(b) 2025-27 Internal Audit Plan (KPMG) 

Recommended Action: THAT the 2025-27 Internal Audit Plan be forwarded to the June 23, 2025 Regular Board 
Meeting for approval.” 

  
E - 1 External Audit 

* (a) Review of Engagement and Audit Planning Letter (Millards) 
  

F - 1 Other Business 
* (a) 2025-26 Board Budget (R. Wyszynski) 
* (b) School Audits 2024-25 (R. Wyszynski) 
  

G - 1 Adjournment 
 Recommended Motion: “THAT the Audit Committee meeting be adjourned.” 

  
H - 1 2025-26 Meeting Dates:  

• Thursday, September 11, 2025 at 4:30 p.m. (Virtual only) 
• Thursday, November 13, 2025 at 4:30 pm (In-person/virtual) 
• Thursday, March 26, 2026 at 4:30 pm (Virtual only)  
• Thursday, June 11, 2026 at 4:30 pm (In-person/virtual) 

 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 1 of 80



B-1 
 

Grand Erie District School Board 
 
   

 

TO:  Audit Committee 

FROM:  Rafal Wyszynski, Superintendent of Business & Treasurer 

RE:  Consent Agenda 

DATE:  June 12, 2025 
   
 
Recommended Motion: Moved by _______________ Seconded by _________________________ 
THAT the Audit Committee accepts the June 12, 2025 Consent Agenda and the 
recommendations contained therein: 

(a) Minutes of the Audit Committee dated March 6, 2025 be approved. 
(b) Receive Consolidated Due Diligence Report. 
(c) Receive Q2 Financial Forecast. 
(d) Receive Core Ed Debrief. 
(e) Receive AI in Education. 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Rafal Wyszynski  
Superintendent of Business & Treasurer 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 2 of 80



  B-1-a 

Audit Committee 
Thursday, March 6, 2025 5:00 PM 
MS Teams Virtual Meeting 
 

MINUTES 
 

Page 1 of 2 

Present:  Members: Chair – T. Waldschmidt (Trustee), J. Bradford (Trustee), 
E. Whiton (Trustee), E. Hodgins (Volunteer), A. Thakker (Volunteer) 

Management: J. Roberto (Director), R. Wyszynski (Superintendent of Business), 
C. Smith (Manager of Business Services) 

KPMG (Internal Auditors): B. Sisson 
 
Regrets: KPMG (Internal Auditors): S. Bedi 

Millards (External Auditors): M. McInally 
 
Guests: Trustee R. Collver, Trustee C.A. Sloat 
 
Recording Secretary: L. Howells, Executive Assistant to the Superintendent of Business 
 
A - 1 Opening 
(a) Roll Call 

The meeting was called to order by Committee Chair Waldschmidt at 5:02 p.m. 
 

(b) Declaration of Conflict of Interest – Nil 
 
(c) Land Acknowledgement Statement 

Committee Chair Waldschmidt read the Land Acknowledgement statement. 
 
(d) Approval of Agenda 

Presented as printed 
Moved by:  A. Thakker 
Seconded by: J. Bradford 
THAT the Audit Committee agenda be approved. 
Carried 
 

B - 1 Consent Agenda 
Presented as printed 
Moved by:   E. Hodgins 
Seconded by: A. Thakker 
THAT the Audit Committee accepts the March 6, 2025, Consent Agenda and the 
recommendations contained therein: 

(a) Minutes of the Audit Committee dated November 7, 2024 be approved. 
(b) Receive the Consolidated Due Diligence report. 
(c) Receive the Revised Budget Estimates 2024-25. 

Carried 
 

C - 1 Business Arising from Minutes and/or Previous Meetings 
Nil 
 

D - 1 Internal Audit 
(a) Absenteeism Risk and Cost Mitigation Assessment - Status Update 

B. Sisson, from KPMG, provided a brief update on the status on the Absenteeism Risk 
and Cost Mitigation Assessment. Final report will be presented at the June 12, 2025 
Audit Committee meeting. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 3 of 80



  B-1-a 

Audit Committee 
Thursday, March 6, 2025 5:00 PM 
MS Teams Virtual Meeting 
 

MINUTES 
 

Page 2 of 2 

 
(b) 2025-26 Internal Audit Plan 

B. Sisson, from KPMG, provided a brief overview of the risk refresh timeline which 
launched on March 3, 2025. The risk refresh will support the development of the risk 
landscape for school boards in Ontario. This assessment of risks will help guide next 
fiscal year’s Internal Audit Plan. The 2025-26 Internal Audit Plan will be presented at the 
June 12, 2025 Audit Committee meeting. 
 

E - 1 External Audit 
(a) Appointment of the External Auditor 

Moved by:   J. Bradford 
Seconded by: A. Thakker 
THAT the appointment of Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP as external auditors for the 
2024-25 financial year be forwarded to the March 24, 2025, Regular Board Meeting for 
approval. 
Carried 
 

F - 1 Other Business 
(a) Budget Overview 2025-26  

Superintendent Wyszynski provided an overview of the 2025-26 Budget process and 
timelines presented at the February Finance Committee Meeting.  
 
In response to questions, R. Wyszynski provided an overview of the enrolment planning 
and projection process for new subdivisions within the budget process. R. Wyszynski 
also described how a Cyber Security risk assessment would be reflected in an Internal 
Audit Plan. Risks will be presented to the Audit Committee in June as part of the 
Internal Audit Plan report.  
 

(b) Audit Reports – Recommendations Tracking  
Superintendent Wyszynski provided a brief overview of a new internal process which 
will catalogue recommendations from historical audits containing action plans and 
timelines. A summary and update report will be brought to the Audit Committee every 
June. 
 

G - 1 Adjournment 
Moved by: E. Whiton 
Seconded by: E. Hodgins 
THAT the Audit Committee meeting be adjourned at 5:32 pm. 
Carried 

 
H - 1 Next Meeting: Thursday, June 12, 2025, at 4:30 p.m. (in person) 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 4 of 80



Audit Committee
Consolidated Due Dilegence Report

Item Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug
All Statutory withholding ( Income Tax, CPP, EI) have been submitted LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC
Employer Health Tax paid and submitted for the month LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC
Records of employment for any terminated or laid off employees completed and sent 
electronically to Service Canada. 

LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC

OMERS (pension deductions from staff, company portion of pension and amounts 
remitted and report of additions and deletions of staff to plan) remitted. LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC

Teacher’s Pension Plan and Union Dues remitted. LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC LC
Employee changes uploaded to ELHT Benefit Plan Administration. DD DD DD DD DD DD DD DD DD
H.S.T. return remitted. JH JH JH JH JH JH JH JH JH
New employees have been trained as required under Health and Safety Legislation. LL LL LL LL LL LL LL LL LL
Workplace inspections were completed during the period. LL LL LL LL LL LL LL LL LL
Required JOHSC committee meetings were held during the period. LL LL LL LL LL LL LL LL LL

Staff include:  LC-Laurie Campbell, DD-Diane De Vos, JH-Julie Hardie, LL-Lena Latreille, CS - Cindy Smith

2024-25 School Year

B-1-b

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 5 of 80



������� ���	
�������������������������
��� � �

�

���� � ��������� !"#�$�%&'�('$�()"!*#�"��+�,-.*�#)���/�0!*"!#�"1��+�#&!�2��"-�34�5��� ��+�6�71891�8:)$�0.;!")�#!�-!�#��+�2.8)�!88�/�<"!�8."!"�4��� � =>�?@A?BC�D>EFA@�4AGH?@�I=JK�LM����� N�1�OP$�PQPR�� � ��D�STF?H>UE�V��8)8#!�#�W)#&�2.-X!#�(!Y!6�;Z!�#�%"�*!88�%�6)*1�[2\]QP̂$�#&!�_.�"#!"61�2.-X!#��!;�"#�+�"�#&!�8)̀�Z��#&8�!�-!-�a! ".�"1�Pb$�PQPR$�)8��##�*&!-'���MEEc@cHU�B�dUeH?f�@cHU�2.8)�!88�0!"Y)*!8�&�8�"!Y)!W!-�#&!�+)���*)�6��*#)Y)#1�+�"�#&!�;!")�-�0!;#!Z !"�PQPg�#��a! ".�"1�PQPR$�*�66!*#!-�)�+�"Z�#)���+"�Z� .-X!#]&�6-!"8$�Z�-!�8;!�-)�X��88.Z;#)��8�+�"�#&!��!̀#�8)̀�Z��#&8���-�*�Z;�"!-�+�"!*�8#!-�!̀;!�-)#."!8��X�)�8#�#&!��!Y)8!-�,8#)Z�#!8� .-X!#'�0�Z!��+�#&!�&)X&6)X&#8��"!�8.ZZ�")9!-� !6�Wh�i� �!Y!�.!8��"!�!̀;!*#!-�#��)�*"!�8!�-.!�#��X"�W#&�)��8#.-!�#�!�"�6Z!�#�)�� �#&�#&!�!6!Z!�#�"1���-�8!*��-�"1�;��!68'�j#�)8���#)*);�#!-�#&�#�#&!��;;"�̀)Z�#!�OgQ]8#.-!�#�)�*"!�8!�W)66�X!�!"�#!�����--)#)���6�kO'l�Z)66)���)��V�"!�,-�+.�-)�X'�<&!"!�W!"!�����#&!"�8)X�)+)*��#�Y�")��*!8���#!-�)��#&!� ��"-m8�"!Y!�.!8'�i� 0.;;61�*�8#8$�W&)*&��"!�!̀;!�8!8��"!�#&�#�-)"!*#61�"!6�#!-�#��� 8!�#!!)8Z��+�!-.*�#�"8$�!-.*�#)���6��88)8#��#8$���-�8*&��6��-Z)�)8#"�#�"8$��"!�*��#)�.)�X�#��*6)Z �8&�";61���-�.�+�Y�."� 61��X�)�8#�#&!� .-X!#�!8#� 6)8&!-��#�"!Y)8!-�!8#)Z�#!8'�<&)8��;;"�̀)Z�#!�kO�Z)66)���-�66�"�;"!88."!�*��� !��##") .#!-�#�����)�*"!�8!�)��� 8!�#!!)8Z�"�#!8$����)Z;"�Y!Z!�#�)��Y�*��*1�+)66�"�#!8���-�)�*"!�8!8�#��W�X!���-� !�!+)#�"�#!8'�i� a�*)6)#1�"!�!W�6�*�8#8��"!���#)*);�#!-�#��)�*"!�8!� 1��Y!"�knQQ$QQQ�-.!�#��)�*"!�8!8�#��#&!�Y�6.Z!��+�;"�o!*#8�.�-!"W�1'�p"��-�,")!q8�+�*)6)#)!8�#!�Z�&�8�;"�Y)-!-�!�&��*!-�8.;;�"#�#��"!;�)"$�"!��Y�#!$���-�"!+." )8&��."� .)6-)�X8$�#&)8�!�&��*!Z!�#�&�8�6!-�#����8. 8#��#)�6�)�*"!�8!�)��*�8#8'���<&!�PQPg]PR��!Y)8!-�,8#)Z�#!8�W�8�+)6!-�W)#&��� �6��*!-� .-X!#'�<&!�+�"!*�8#��8��+�#&!�8!*��-�r.�"#!"�8#)66��88.Z!8�Z��1�*��8!"Y�#)Y!�*�8#�;"�o!*#)��8�#���Y�)-���-!+)*)#�;�8)#)��s�&�W!Y!"$�)+�#&!� !&�Y)�."��+�*!"#�)��!̀;!�8!8�-�!8���#�*."#�)6$�0!�)�"��-Z)�)8#"�#)���W)66��!!-�#��-!#!"Z)�!�*�8#�Z)#)X�#)���8#"�#!X)!8�8.*&��8�-!+!""�68��"�!6)Z)��#)����+�;"�o!*#8��"�)�)#)�#)Y!8�#��Z�)�#�)��#&!�*�."8!�+�"��� �6��*!-�)�]1!�"�;�8)#)��'��)8:8��88�*)�#!-�W)#&�#&!�+�"!*�8#�;"!8!�#!-��"!�*���!*#!-�#��*��#)�.!-�.�*!"#�)�#)!8�"!X�"-)�X�8#�++�� 8!�#!!)8Z$�#&!�!8*�6�#)�X�*�8#��+�Z)��"�"!;�)"���-�"!��Y�#)���W�":���-�#&!�;�#!�#)�6�)Z;�*#��+�#�")++�;")*)�X����#&!�;."*&�8!��+�X��-8���-�8!"Y)*!8'��<&!�r.�"#!"61�+�"!*�8#�+�"�#&!�;!")�-�!�-)�X�a! ".�"1�Pb$�PQPR�-)8;6�18��� �6��*!-�+)���*)�6�;�8)#)��'��� �!8;!*#+.661�8. Z)##!-$�����+�6�71891�8:)��0.;!")�#!�-!�#��+�2.8)�!88�/�<"!�8."!"�tuvwvxy�z{||u}}yy�~yy}uv� ~w���������� �w�y���{����

B-1-c

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 6 of 80

lkay
Text Box

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
��������������������������������	����
��������������	��	�����	��	���������� !�������""��#�$�"���������%���������&	'��	������"��	������	��'	��������������������"��	������	� ��""��#��%������"	���
�( ) * )&	'	��	 +,-./0-1 ,23/14. ,50/-3+ 0/22.������������ 6789 ,/541������������ ,/504������������� ,/5,+�������������� 01������������ 6789-/-+1� -/.53 -/.53 :� 6769 2/+54����������� 2/+52����������� 2/+15������������� 00������������� 67;903/441 5/402 0+/-+1 ,/034������������ <<7;9 0+/0++���������� 0+/4+4���������� 0+/4,.������������ ,,������������ 67=93/,31 3/5-3 00/4-,� 0/-3.������������ >87=9  ?!?����������  ?!??��������� ��!������������� @����������� ABCD03/003� 01/153� 01/153� :� 6769 +�?E!��� � �!��F� � @!@��� @!������������� GBHD 5/..1������������ 5/.2+����������� 5/2-,�������������� 1,����������� >7>9�I�	������	� JKLM�NOPQKR� ,, ,2� ,2 : 6769NSTUUOVVW�XYUROZ[RKVY 45+/-+4 411/-,+ 43+/5,, 4/,+,����������� 67\9 -+3�������������� -,-�������������� -,+ ].̂ _>7>9V̀Y:NSTUUOVVW ,4/+2. ,,/1-4 ,5/1,5 ,/33-����������� >>7\9 F!������������ F!������������ F! �F������������ EF���������� GBADaQWKYKUROTRKVY 3/-42 0+/++4 0+/002� 00.� >7>9bOTYUcVORTRKVY 01/50,� 01/,12� 05/5,+ ]2.2̂� _=7d9 �E!?��������� �F!���������� �F! @�����������  ���������� ABHDeZcKS�a[[VWWVQTRKVY .2/350 .5/015 .5/51, .32� >769NVYRKYLPY[f�g�̀VY:hcPOTRKYL 3/54.� 4/-+4 4/-+4 :� 6769i������I�	������	� �?E!��� � �!��F� � @!@��� @!������������� GBHDj��k	�����������l
	%���m �� �� �� �������������� _eOKVO�nPTO�a[[ZWZSTRPQ�oZOcSZU�pVO�[VWcSKTY[P 00/000� 00/000� 00/000� +� 6769��"����	����������l
	%���m�%����"�����	   !   �   !   �   !   � �� ABAD��""��#��%����%%��� * )$�������"bPT[MPOU 0/521q. 0/525q- ]0̂� _67>9rTOSf�NMKSQMVVQ�rQZ[TRVOU 043q+ 0,5q+ 1� d7;9rQZ[TRKVYTS�aUUKURTYRU ,21q+ ,53q.� 04� =7>9i�����$�������" �!�@�s���� �!�F�s?���  F��� 67\9o[MVVS�aQWKYKUROTRKVY 4,-q3��� 4,.q3��� 0��� 67<9tVTOQ�aQWKYKUROTRKVY 5.q+��� 5-q+��� ]0̂� _>7=9uT[KSKRf�oPOvK[PU 443q0��� 4,+q2��� 4��� 67w9NVVOQKYTRVOU�g�NVYUZSRTYRU -4q+��� ,1q+��� ]-̂� _x789eTOTcOVpPUUKVYTSU .1q.� .3q+� 0� 67x9NMKSQ�g�nVZRM�yVOzPOU 43q+��� ,+q.��� 4��� 87;9Xb�oRTpp ,.q+� ,.q+� :� 6769{K|OTOf 04q1� 04q1� :� 6769bOTYUcVORTRKVY 5q+� 5q+� :� 6769hRMPO�oZccVOR 2q+� 5q+� 0� >d7w9NVYRKYZKYL�rQ 1q0� 5q2� ]0̂� _d7;9bOZURPPU 0.q+ 0.q+ :� 6769}���$�������" E��s� E��s� �� ABADi���� �!� EsF� �!��@s�  F AB~D

l(������	�����i��������m �����&	'��	� ������	���������"��	� �����������	����OTYRU�pVO�NTcKRTS�eZOcVUPU �O�0:,hRMPO�̀VY:NVOP�rQ��OTYRUhRMPO�̀VY:�OTYR��PvPYZPUeOVvKY[KTS��OTYRU�]NVOP�rQ̂ ������	
�	�����#��� 

�i�

���o���	"	����# �����&	'��	�

���������"��	� �����&	'��	�

�O�-:1i�������	"	����#
���������"��	� �����������	���

������	

aWVORK�TRKVY�Vp��NN bZKRKVY�g��KUTi������	�����#i�����&	'	��	 �PLZSTO�NOPQKRi���������� $����	����������"	��������	��'����	���
�������� ��������� ���������

�����������������
��� ��������� ¡����¢£�¤�¥�¦§̈�¦�©̈����©�ª©

��©��©�§©�«©
�¬©��©�©

®̄°̄±

²³́µ́ ¶·�̧¹ºº³»»··�¼··»³́½ ¼µ¾�¿ÀÁ�ÀÂÀÃ Äµ½·�Å�¹Æ�À¿
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 7 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
��������������������������������	����
���������	�	��	�������	��	�����	��	���� ����!"#�����$%��� ��	�����&��������' ��� 	�����	��(	��)*+),-./012/3. )*+),4350.36�-./012/3. )*+),7)�89:3;2./� <����=>;:32.3�?@3;:32.3A B����=>;:32.3�?@3;:32.3AC��	��
������� C�������(����DD�� ������$C��'EF8�+�G3:�GHI0J�KJJ9;2/09> L*)MNON��� L,NM**,��� L,PMP,L��� LMQRN��� STUV 2WX2>YH2Y3�EJ2..:991�F/2ZZ0>Y�KJJ9;2/09> ,MLNR��� NMPOQ��� NMPOQ��� +��� STSVX9;2J�E0:;H1./2>;3.�F/2ZZ0>Y�KJJ9;2/09> Q*MOP*��� Q,ML)L��� Q,ML)L��� +��� STSV=>60Y3>9H.�-6H;2/09>�EJ2..:991�F/2ZZ0>Y )RP��� )*,��� )*,��� +��� STSVFHIIJ313>/2:[�F/2ZZ0>Y�KJJ9;2/09> )M,N)��� )MPPO��� )MPPO��� +��� STSV&\&�]�C�� "̂�#_�"��� ��"#!̂���� ���#_̀ ���� "#!�_��� abcd]	����� ��	����	�������$]��'X48�+�G3:�GHI0J�KJJ9;2/09> LOMRPO��� LOMPNP��� LOMO)Q��� L,P��� STUV 2WX2>YH2Y3�FHII9:/.�2>6�X9;2J�E0:;H1./2>;3. QMeRQ��� QMO,Q��� QMO,Q��� +��� STSV=>60Y3>9H.�-6H;2/09>�FHII9:/.�KJJ9;2/09> )M,PQ��� )MPO*��� )MPO*��� +��� STSVf3>/2J�g32J/h�2>6�i3JJ>3..�KJJ9;2/09> LM)RL��� LM)*e��� LM)*e��� +��� STSVF/H63>/�F2Z3/[�2>6�i3JJ+j30>Y�KJJ9;2/09> NQQ��� NNL��� NNL��� +��� STSVE9>/0>H0>Y�-6H;2/09>�2>6�k/h3:�G:9Y:21. )MNO*��� QMQ*L��� QMQ*L��� +��� STSVF;h99J�f2>2Y313>/�KJJ9;2/09> ))M,ee��� )*M,ee��� )*M,ee��� +��� STSV@0ZZ3:3>/02/36�FHII9:/.�KJJ9;2/09> )M*P*��� )MNL,��� )MNL,��� +��� STSV&\&�]�]�� ��#��!��� �̂ #̀_l��� �̀#"����� "�l��� abmd��	������������������$���'F-8�+�G3:�GHI0J�KJJ9;2/09> )QMP,R��� ),M*Qe��� ),MN*R��� )R)��� STUV 2W@0ZZ3:3>/02/36�n336.�KJJ9;2/09>�?@nKA LeMROe��� LOMeOL��� LOMeOL��� +��� STSVE91IJ3o�FHII9:/.�KJJ9;2/09> LM)NQ��� LM*O,��� LM*O,��� +��� STSVFI3;02J0p36�-qH0I13>/�KJJ9;2/09>�?F-KA LMO)Q��� LMO)e��� LMO)e��� +��� STSV&\&�]���� ��#�!���� �̂ #l����� �̂ #̀�!��� ������ abrd�������������	�������$���'F;h99J�kI3:2/09>.�KJJ9;2/09> Q)MP,e��� QQM)e)��� QQM)e)��� +��� STSV4H:2J�2>6�n9:/h3:>�-6H;2/09>�KJJ9;2/09> ,*L��� OQN��� OQN��� +��� STSV&\&�]���� !!#�̀`��� !�#�"̀��� !�#�"̀��� ���� abad����	���&��������������������$�&�'s:2>.I9:/2/09>�F3:50;3.�KJJ9;2/09> LPMRRP��� LPMR*,��� LPMR*,��� +��� STSVF;h99J�jH.�4063:�F2Z3/[�s:20>0>Y�KJJ9;2/09> L)��� )O��� )O��� +��� STSVs:2>.I9:/2/09>�/9�G:950>;02J�F;h99J. Q*Q��� Q)*��� Q)*��� +��� STSV&\&�]��&� "l#!_"� "l#!̀^������������� "l#!̀^������������� ������������� abad��������������(�����������������$����'s:H./33.�2>6�G2:3>/�->Y2Y313>/�KJJ9;2/09> )PL��� )PL��� )PL��� +��� STSVj92:6+j2.36�F/2ZZ0>Y�KJJ9;2/09> eMLQR��� eM*Q)��� eM*Q)��� +��� STSVE3>/:2J�-1IJ9[3:�j2:Y20>0>Y�KY3>;[�833.�KJJ9;2/09> ,O��� *e��� *e��� +��� STSV@2/2�f2>2Y313>/�2>6�KH60/�KJJ9;2/09> Q*O��� Q,N��� Q,N��� +��� STSV&\&�]����� #̂̂"���� #̀"�_��� #̀"�_��� ���� abad&�����C��	���������� !��#"�̂��� !_̀ #̂����� !l"#�̀ ���� "#__���� �t�u

C��� 	 f2/3:02J�v2:02>;3�n9/3
wxyxz

{|}~}�������|���������|}� �~���������� �~����������
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 8 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
��������������������������������	����
���������	�	��	�������	��	�����	��	���� ����!"#�����$%��� ��	�����&��������' ��� 	�����	��(	��)*+),-./012/3. )*+),4350.36�-./012/3. )*+),7)�89:3;2./� <����=>;:32.3�?@3;:32.3A B����=>;:32.3�?@3;:32.3AC��� 	 D2/3:02E�F2:02>;3�G9/3�������H���C�������I�����	�J;K99E�43>3L2E )MNOP��� )MNOP��� )MNOP��� +��� QRQST31U9:2:V�W;;911962/09> X,N��� X,N��� X,N��� +��� QRQSJK9:/+/3:1�=>/3:3./ )YO��� *,*��� *,*��� +��� QRQS@3Z/�8[>60>\�]9:�̂2U0/2E )M_,N��� )M_,N��� )M_,N��� +��� QRQSD0>9:�T2>\0ZE3�̂2U0/2E�W..3/.�?1T̂ WA ?XM_ÒA��� ?XM_ÒA��� ?XM_ÒA��� +��� QRQS&�����C�������I�����	�������� �#��a��� �#�bc��� �#�bc��� ���� �d�ef��	��g�����g�������43.U9>.053�-6[;2/09>�h:9\:21.�?4-hA OMY)̀��� *M,YN��� PMPYX��� OMXN)��� ijRiS Zk8[>60>\�]9:�-l/3:>2E�h2:/>3:.�?8-hA X,M*̀ Y��� )M_)Y��� )M_)Y��� +��� QRQS&�����g�����g������� "c#��a��� b#�"m��� "�#��a��� !#"c���� ��d�ef��	��g����������	�	��	�-6[;2/09>�J3:50;3�W\:3313>/.�+�J0l�G2/09>. ,MYOP��� _M*_P��� _M*̀ )��� ?_,A��� noRQSp-6[;2/09>�J3:50;3�W\:3313>/.�+�D 8̂G _̀ P��� ,X,��� ,X,��� +��� QRQSq/K3:�833. XNN��� XNN��� XNN��� +��� QRQSq/K3:�r92:6. ÒO��� ÒO��� ÒO��� +��� QRQS9̂11[>0/V�s.3�t�43>/2E. YOY��� YXY��� YXY��� +��� QRQSD0.;3EE2>39[.�4353>[3. XM_X*��� XM**Y��� OM̀ P̀��� XM,_̀��� oQuRvS ;k&�����g����������	�	��	� c#!ca��� c#b�c��� ""#��!��� "#�c���� "�d!e
	H	��	���	�	��	�4353>[3�43;953:V�9>�W4q *_O��� ,Ỳ��� ,Ỳ��� +��� QRQSW19:/0w2/09>�9]�@̂ ^ XYM_,_��� XYM)NN��� XYM)NN��� +��� QRQS&�����
	H	��	���	�	��	 "c#""c��� "a#abc��� "a#abc��� ���� �d�e&f&�x���y�gz�� !cb#!����� �"�#��c��� �"m#m����� m#!����� "d�e�{������������H�|��	�����������y�����	��2k =>;:32.3�0>�:353>[3�2.�2�:3.[E/�9]�K0\K3:�3>:9E13>/kZk =>;:32.3�2.�2�:3.[E/�9]�2660/09>2E�4-h.��2>>9[>;36�ZV�/K3�D0>0./:V�]9:�/2:\3/36�0>0/02/053.�2>6�r0EE�X)*�;91U3>.2/09>�U2V13>/.k;k =>;:32.3�2.�2�:3.[E/�9]�2660/09>2E�:353>[3�\3>3:2/36�/K9[\K�}9:62>~.�h:0>;0UE3k�������oR�Q���������������������������������������������������������Q��

���� 

¡¢£¤£¥¦�§̈ ©©¢ªª¦¦�«¦¦ª¢£¬ «¤�®̄°�̄±̄² ³¤¬¦�́�̈µ�̄®
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 9 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
��������������������������������	����
�����������	��	�������	��	�����	��	��������� !"�����#$������	�����%��������& ����	�����	��'	��()*(+,-./01.2- ()*(+324/-25 ()*(+6(�7892:1-.� ;����<=:921-2�>?2:921-2@ A����<=:921-2�>?2:921-2@B�������'�C���������D21:E29- FG+HI()��� (FJH)K+��� (JGHKFK��� >K+L@��� MNOPQRSTUUVW�D21:E29- LHJ(+��� KH)K+��� LH)FK��� G)F��� XYOZQ 1[,5T:1./8=1V�\--/-.1=.- ((HLLF��� (IH(KI��� (+H]L+��� (H)F(��� XNOPQ [̂,19VW�_E/V5E885�,5T:1.89- LH)])��� LHL(L��� LHKL)��� >))@��� MNÒQR_V1--9880�_80UT.29- +H)()��� +HLJI��� +HLL(��� KG��� XOPQD2a.̂88b-�1=5�STUUV/2- GH+J)��� FJH(]F��� GH]GI��� >+]L@��� M̀ÒQR :[c98d2--/8=1V-�1=5�c191U98d2--/8=1V- FIHIFF��� F)HIL(��� F)HIKG��� >)@��� MNONQRe/̂919W�1=5�fT/51=:2 +HK(J��� ]HFJJ��� ]HFJJ��� *��� NONQS.1dd�?242V8U02=. FHIIG��� FH)((��� FH]]]��� ())��� XgOYQ 5[?2U19.02=.�h215- )JG��� )JG��� )JG��� *��� NONQ%�����C��������� �i�"������ �jj"� ���� �k�"i  ��� �" ����� lmnop���B�������'c9/=:/U1V�1=5�q/:2*c9/=:/U1V- F+HGJK��� FKH]KF��� (FHI)G��� IH]KL��� YNOrQ 2[S:E88V�sdd/:2 LH+(+��� LH+LI��� LHL)J��� (+K��� tONQ_8895/=1.89-�u�_8=-TV.1=.- ]HJ]G��� ]HJ(J��� ]HFI)��� FF+��� XOvQ_8=./=T/=w�,5T:1./8= FH+]I��� FH+]G��� FH+F)��� >++@��� MtÒQR%�����p���B�������'  �"�x����   "j�����  i"j i���  "kk���� yymno��'�����������D9T-.22- IL(��� IK+��� IKK��� (��� NÒQ?/92:.89zSTU294/-89W�sdd/:29- FH]](��� FHK]J��� FHKL+��� (+��� XOPQ{8195�\50/=/-.91./8= KHIL(��� KHL]]��� KHG+)��� LL��� XOXQ%�������'����������� k"��x��� !�"������ !�"!!x��� !!���� ymyo%������������� !j"i! ��� !j" jx��� !i"i ���� #x�x&��� |}m~o� d[��������''�������S:E88V�sU291./8=-�1=5��1/=.2=1=:2 IJH)(J��� IFHF)(��� IFHIJL��� F]]��� NÒQS:E88V�32=2�1V IH((+��� IH)G+��� IHG(+��� )IJ��� XYOtQ w[s.E29�cTU/V�\::800851./8= IH+)F��� IH+)F��� IH+)F��� *��� NONQ\089./�1./8=�u��9/.2*58�=- FGHKL+��� FGHJJG��� FGHJJG��� *��� NONQ%�������������''������� �x"ki!��� �i"!ji��� �i"ij ��� �kx��� ymlop�����	������ �"� ���� �"������ �"������ ���� lmlo��������������B������	��	� i"�k���� ���� ���� ����%�%�������p
C%����  ki" ����� �!�"��j��� �!x"x����� x" ����� ym�o

B����	 �1.29/1V�q19/1=:2��8.2
�����

������������������������� ����� ¡� ¢ £ ¤����¥��¦� �
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 10 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
��������������������������������	����
�����������	��	�������	��	�����	��	��������� !"�������������������#�$��	��������	������	�%�����	���&�&&�&	&#&�&'()*+,�-./0/12/3�4567896:5�;<=>:6�95�9??@AB:=�CD�6E:�;A9@=�7F�G<F:�/0/1
HIJKLMNL�MN�M�KLNOPQ�RS�TUVTLK�QTMI�MIQUJUWMQLX�MYNLIQLLUNZ�KLNOPQUIV�UI�MXXUQURIMP�ONL�RS�NOWWP[�QLMJTLKN\HIJKLMNL�MN�M�KLNOPQ�RS�MXXUQURIMP�]̂ N�SOIXLX�QTKROVT�_RKXMÌN�aKUIJUWPL\bIXLKNWLIX�SRKLJMNQLX�LcWLJQLX�SRK�NJTRRP�YMNLX�MJJROIQN\X̂XUQURIMP�WKRSLNNURIMP�XLdLPRWZLIQ�JRNQN�MN�M�KLNOPQ�RS�QTL�MIIROIJLZLIQ�RS�MXXUQURIMP�e]aN\X̂XUQURIMP�JRNQN�MN�M�KLNOPQ�RS�UIJKLMNLX�JRZWLINMQURI�MN�fLPP�MN�MXXUQURIMP�NOWWRKQ�SRK�MXZUIUNQKMQRKN\gLJKLMNL�MN�M�KLNOPQ�RS�M�PRfLK�dRPOZL�RS�MIQUJUWMQLX�KROQLN�MN�fLPP�MN�SMdROKMYPL�SOLP�WKUJLN\�HIJKLMNL�MN�M�KLNOPQ�RS�TUVTLK�QTMI�MIQUJUWMQLX�JRNQN�KLPMQLX�QR�LITMIJUIV�KLWMUK�MIX�ZMUIQLIMIJL�NLKdUJL�PLdLPN�UI�YOUPXUIVN\

hijik

lmnonpq�rsttmuuqq�vqqumnw vox�yz{�z|z} ~owq�y|�s��zy
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 11 of 80

lkay
Text Box



������� ���	
�������������������������
��� � �

�

���� � ��������� !"#�$�%&'�('$�()"!*#�"��+�,-.*�#)���/�0!*"!#�"1�#��#&!�2��"-�34�5��� ��+�6�71891�8:)$�0.;!")�#!�-!�#��+�2.8)�!88�/�<"!�8."!"�4��� � =>?@��AB�CDE>F�G@�H?E@I�JKJL�JM�GN����� �.�!�O$�PQPR�� � ��HC�ST?>BFA�%"�U)-)�V�.;-�#!8�-.")�V�#&!�-!U!6�;W!�#��+�#&!� .-V!#�)8���*")#)*�6�;&�8!�X)#&)��#&!� .-V!#�;"�*!88'�<&)8�)�U�6U!8���*�W;"!&!�8)U!�"!U)!X��+�U�")�.8�+�*#�"8�#&�#�)W;�*#�#&!�Y"��-�,")!�()8#")*#�0*&��6�2��"-Z8�[Y"��-�,")!\8]�+)���*!8'�<&)8�"!;�"#�8.WW�")9!8�#&!�̂ )�)8#"1��+�,-.*�#)���_�"!�,-.*�#)���̀.�-)�V��66�*�#)���+�"�PQPRaPb'���cFI>?dCDE>F�<&!�+.�-)�V�+�"W.6��X�8�8)V�)+)*��#61�"!8#".*#."!-�+�"�#&!�PQPeaPR� .-V!#�*1*6!���-�"!W�)�8���"!8#".*#."!-�U!"8)����+�Y"��#8�+�"�0#.-!�#�f!!-8�[Y0f]'��<�#�6�+.�-)�V�)8�!8#)W�#!-�#�� !�ghQ'h� )66)��$����)�*"!�8!��+�gORh'R�W)66)����"�h'hi�*�W;�"!-�#��PQPejPR�8.;;�"#!-� 1�#�"V!#!-�)�U!8#W!�#8�+�"�6� �."a"!6�#!-�*&��V!8$�#"��8;�"#�#)��$�)�#!"��6��.-)#$���-���W�-!"�)9!-��;;"��*&�#��,-.*�#)�����-�_�WW.�)#1�%�"#�!"8&);�%"�V"�W�[,_%%]�+.�-)�V'�<&!�PQPRaPb�_�"!�,-� .-V!#�-!#�)68�X!"!�"!6!�8!-����̂�1�Ph$�PQPR'��k@l�cFm@nDd@FDn�CFA�opACD@n�q� r� �."�"!6�#!-s�t;-�#!8�#��8�6�"1� !�*&W�":8���-��#&!"�+.�-)�V�!6!W!�#8��"!� !)�V�W�-!�#��"!+6!*#s��u���gv�;!"�&�."�)�*"!�8!�)��!-.*�#)���X�":!"�8�6�")!8'�<&)8�)�*"!�8!�)8��68�� !)�V��;;6)!-�#�����a.�)������aW���V!W!�#�8�6�"1� !�*&W�":8'��u���P'Ri�)�*"!�8!�)��#!�*&!"$�;")�*);�6���-�U)*!a;")�*);�6�8�6�")!8'�<&)8�)�*"!�8!�)8��68�� !)�V��;;6)!-�#��W���V!")�6�8#�++�+.�-!-�#&"�.V&�#&!�0*&��6�w;!"�#)��8��66�*�#)����8�X!66��8����a!x!*.#)U!8�+.�-!-�#&"�.V&�#&!�2��"-a2�8!-�0#�++)�V��66�*�#)���u�,W;6�1!!�r)+!���-�y!�6#&�<".8#�[,ry<]� !�!+)#8�+.�-)�V��W�.�#8�&�U!� !!���-z.8#!-�#��"!+6!*#�#&!��.#*�W!��+�#&!�PQPPaPQPb�*�66!*#)U!��V"!!W!�#8�+�"��66�!W;6�1!!�V"�.;8'����?CFnp>?DCDE>F�<&!�0#.-!�#�<"��8;�"#�#)���̀.�-�[0<̀]�)8�;"�z!*#!-�#��)�*"!�8!� 1�g{v'e�W)66)���[b'h�;!"�*!�#]�#����#�#�6��+�gv'h{� )66)���+�"�PQPRaPb'�<&!�0<̀�&�8� !!��.;-�#!-�#��"!+6!*#s�q� �!8.6#8��+�"!*!�#�"�.#)�V�8)W.6�#)��8�)�*6.-)�V�*&��V!8�#���.W !"��+�"�.#!8$�-�)61�-)8#��*!$���-�#)W!�#"�U!66!-$��8�X!66��8�*&��V!8�)��!�"�6W!�#�+�"�!�*&�8*&��6� ��"-'�q� t;-�#!8�#��+.�-)�V� !�*&W�":8�#��8.;;�"#�#&!�)�*"!�8)�V�*�8#��+�#"��8;�"#�#)���8!"U)*!8�[)'!'$�*�8#��+�;."*&�8)�V�U!&)*6!8$��--)#)���6�#)W!�+�"���"#&!"��"�.#!8$�!#*']'�q� .̀�-)�V�#��*�U!"�*�8#8��88�*)�#!-�X)#&�#&!����a"!+.�-� 6!�;�"#)����+�y0<�+�"��66�#&!��W�.�#8�"!6�#!-�#�� .8!8���-�*��#"�*#!-�8;!*)�6a;.";�8!�U!&)*6!8�[_0%|8]'�q� 0.;;�"#�+�"�*��#)�.�.8��;#)W)9�#)����+�#"��8;�"#�#)���"�.#!8���� .8!8$�_0%|8���-�*��#"�*#!-�#�x)8���-��--"!88����.�6�U�6�#)6)#1�)��"�.#!8$�-)8#��*!���-�#)W!'�q� <�;a.;�+.�-)�V�#��!�8."!�#&�#�!�*&�8*&��6� ��"-�"!*!)U!8����)�*"!�8!��+��#�6!�8#�P'R�;!"�*!�#��U!"�#&!�PQPeaPR�0<̀'��Y"��-�,")!�)8�!x;!*#!-�#��"!*!)U!�����66�*�#)����+�gv{'RW�+�"�#"��8;�"#�#)���+�"�PQPRaPb}����)�*"!�8!��+��;;"�x)W�#!61�gv'PW�[b'Oi]'�~������������������������ ������������ �������������

B-1-d

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 12 of 80

lkay
Text Box

lkay
Text Box



���������	��
��������	����	���������� � ���	���

�

������� !��!��" ##�!��$�%�&�!'&()�*�%& +&�#(�,�"%%-��!��"�&'��!��.&'��#'!��������� !�%& +&�#(�,".�%-���/� 0!1 &#'��2$�('3'&�4�&'3�'5(��!��1''�2��6�1& #�'������ !�('�� &�*�&�!'&(���& ((��)'�*& 3�!�'7��)'�8�!�(�&$��(�# �'&!�9�!+��"%%�1�!��!+�� �2'��'&�#''���)'��)�!+�!+�!''�(� 1�(���'!�(7��#*& 3'�(���'!�� ��� #'(7�'!)�!�'����'((��!���)'�:��4��$� 1�'������ !�*& +&�#(7��!��&'���'���#�!�(�&���3'�2�&�'!�5)�4'�� !��!��!+�� �(�** &��4 ��4�(���'!��!''�(;�.5 �!'5�1�!��!+�� #* !'!�(��!��)'�" #*4'<�=�** &�(�>44 ���� !�5�44�&'*4��'��)'�*&� &��"%%�� #* !'!�;��?@	���A�B���
	��	��������C?B�D�E�!��!+�1 &��)'�=0%�� #* !'!��� !��!�'(�� �2'�2�('�� !��!��!�'&�#��**& ��)��(��)'�8�!�(�&$�� !��!�'(�� �5 &6�� 5�&�(���!'5��**& ��)�1 &�1���&'�$'�&(;�.)�(��!�'&�#��**& ��)�)'4*(�&'���'��)'���#�!�(�&���3'�2�&�'!��(( ����'��5��)��)'�*&'3� �(�=0%��4��#(�*& �'((;��F		@����G@�H�I���JJK�L�������BM@A	M	�����K�N�
�LI	��O	�I����A�N
P�JM	�J��/� Q !R(��11�2'!�)#�&6(��S�.)'�8�!�(�&$��(�*& 3���!+���TU�� (���*���'�� ��)'�! !R(��11�* &�� !� 1��)'�=�)  4�V*'&��� !(�>44 ���� !�2'!�)#�&6��!��)'�=�)  4�E���4���'(�E�!��� ��((�(��(�)  4�2 �&�(��!�#�!�+�!+��)'��!�&'�('(��!�� ## ���$�*&��'(�,�;';7�'4'��&����$7�!���&�4�+�(7�1���4��$��!(�&�!�'7��!�� �)'&�� (�(-;��/� "'!(�(W��S�.)'�8�!�(�&$�'!�'&(�$'�&�T� 1���1�3'R$'�&�*)�('R�!�1 &�TXTY�=����(���(�"�!�����'!(�(;�/� Z�11'&'!����'��1�!��!+�1 &� !4�!'�4'�&!�!+W�S�.)'� !4�!'�4'�&!�!+��!���)'��!R*'&( !��!��&'# �'�4'�&!�!+��&'����4 ���2'!�)#�&6(��&'�2'�!+��*���'�� !��)'��((�#*�� !� 1��)'�*& * &�� !� 1�('� !��&$�(���'!�(���6�!+� !'� !4�!'��&'������&�!+��)'�&'+�4�&�(�)  4���$7�':��3�4'!��� �Y[U;����@��A�\��
�����/� =�)  4�" !���� !�0#*& 3'#'!��,="0-� � ]Ŷ7Y_X7XŶ�S�="0��(�����*���4�&'!'5�4�*& +&�#��)����44 5(�(�)  4�2 �&�(�� �&'3���4�9'��!��&'!'5��+'��2��4��!+�� #* !'!�(��)���)�3'�'<�''�'�� &�5�44�'<�''���)'�&��('1�4�4�1'��$�4';�0�'#(�'4�+�24'�1 &�="0�1�!��!+��&'���'!��1�'���)& �+)��)'�#�!�(�&$̀(�=�)  4�E���4��$�" !���� !�>(('((#'!��%& +&�#;�/� =�)  4�a'!'5�4�>44 ���� !�,=a>-� � ][7XbT7T[c�S�=a>��(�*�&�� 1��)'�=�)  4�E���4���'(�E�!���!�'&�" &'�������� !�E�!��!+;�.)�(�1�!��!+��44 5(�(�)  4�2 �&�(�� �&'3���4�9'��!��&'!'5��+'��2��4��!+�($(�'#(��!��� #* !'!�(�/� "�*���4�%4�!!�!+�"�*����$�,"%"-�� � �]Y[d7d̂X�S�"%"�*& +&�#��(��!�'!�'��� �)'4*�(�)  4�2 �&�(��'3'4 *���*���4�*4�!(�� �'11'���3'4$�#�!�+'��)'�&���*���4��(('�(;��0�'!��1$��!���'3'4 *�* �'!���4�1���4��$�*�&�!'&()�*� ** &��!���'(;�%& 3��'�(�** &��� �)�&'��)�&�R*�&�$�('&3��'(�� �1���4����'�#�!���*�4e2 �&��*4�!!�!+���(��((� !(��!��� 44�2 &��� !;�/� .'#* &�&$�>�� ## ���� !�>44 ���� !�� ]fdc7dXX�S�.)�(�1�!��!+�#�$�2'��('��1 &�* &��24'�# 3'(7�4'�('(7��!��*�&�)�('(7��(�5'44��(�1 &�4'�('�� (�(�1 &��!(�&���� !�4�(*��'� �
ghijikl�mnoohppll�qllphir stil�uv�wxwy zjrl�{{�n|�wy
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 13 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	��
��������	����	���������� � ���	���

�

�	�������	��
�������������������� �

��!"#$�#%&'()*+#'%�#$�,$-.�+'�.-/-0'1�*�2*0*%3-.�4546748�9$+#)*+-$�2,.:-+;���<���
����	�=�>��?	����>���!"#$�(-1'(+�$,11'(+$�+"-�@,0+#7A-*(�B+(*+-:#3�C0*%�*%.�*00�+"-�#%.#3*+'($�'&�D-*(%�D-*.�E%$1#(-;��F-$1-3+&,00G�$,2)#++-.H���F*&*0�IG$JG%$K#��B,1-(#%+-%.-%+�'&�L,$#%-$$�M�!(-*$,(-(���
NOPQPRS�TUVVOWWSS�XSSWOPY Z[PS�\]�̂_̂` aQYS�b̂�Uc�̂̀
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 14 of 80

lkay
Text Box



Artificial 
Intelligence in 

Education 

B-1-e

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 15 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 2 of 12 

Introduction 
 
Grand Erie is taking a proactive stance to ensure the safe, effective and responsible use of 
Generative Artificial Intelligence (GenAI) in the classroom.   AI offers new ways to support 
teachers and students by making learning experiences more personal, providing immediate 
feedback and improving accessibility. Our goal is to use GenAI tools to complement traditional 
learning methods and empower students with digital literacy skills and a strong 
understanding of how to use these technologies safely and ethically.    
 
Overview  
 
Grand Erie aims to provide educators with guidelines for the responsible use of GenAI and how 
to utilize AI tools safely and effectively, adhering to existing regulations regarding the 
acceptable use of information technology, privacy and information management, and 
Growing Success. Acknowledging both potential risks and benefits, this framework aims to 
guide sound decision-making to prevent harm. 
 
There are three types of Artificial Intelligence: 
Reactive (e.g., virtual assistants [Siri, Alexa, Google Assistant]) 
Predictive (e.g., Netflix recommendations, Grammarly, predictive text, Google Maps) 
Generative (e.g., ChatGPT, Copilot, Gemini) 
The guidelines within this document outline our current understanding and best-use 
practices of Generative Artificial Intelligence. 
 
As we navigate the advancement of GenAI, governments, educational institutions, 
organizations, businesses, and individuals alike are feeling the pressures of adjusting to rapidly 
changing technologies. 
 
AI does not change our duty of care and our duty to educate. The Education Act has not been 
revised. 
 
Intention and Rationale 
 
The purpose of this document is to provide an overview of K-12 educator use of Generative AI 
within Grand Erie. This document provides suggestions and considerations on how to use 
GenAI rooted in a human-centered approach to foster equity, inclusion, and belonging. We 
aim to empower and support educators to enhance their teaching practice through 
meaningful use. 
 
GenAI represents a significant advancement in educational tools, offering teachers the ability 
to enhance learning experiences, personalize instruction, and improve educational outcomes. 
While it's natural to feel apprehensive about new technologies, GenAI is designed to augment, 
not replace, the human element in teaching. By automating routine tasks, it allows educators 
to devote more time for student interaction and individualized instruction. Embracing this 
technology is a step towards fostering a culture of innovation and preparing students for a 
future integrated with AI. 
  

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 16 of 80

https://www.granderie.ca/404?initialRequestUrl=http%3a%2f%2fwww.granderie.ca%2fdownload_file%2fview%2f6056%2f2373
https://www.granderie.ca/404?initialRequestUrl=http%3a%2f%2fwww.granderie.ca%2fapplication%2ffiles%2f6915%2f1740%2f8746%2fSO19_Privacy_and_Information_Management.pdf
https://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/growSuccess.pdf


AI in Education 

Page 3 of 12 

Artificial Intelligence 
 

  

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 17 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 4 of 12 

What is AI and GenAI? 
 
Artificial Intelligence (AI) encompasses technologies that enable computers to simulate 
human intelligence. It includes machine learning, natural language processing, and deep 
learning. AI automates tasks, enhances productivity, and informs decision-making. In 
education, AI offers personalized learning experiences, efficient administrative processes, and 
data-driven insights. 
 
Generative AI (GenAI) takes AI further by creating new content based on existing artifacts. It 
generates text, images, music, and more. GenAI has applications in content creation, 
automated grading, and personalized learning. However, human validation remains crucial 
due to potential inaccuracies or biases in generated artifacts. 
 
GenAI tools have been trained on Large Language Models (LLMs). LLMs are powerful 
language models designed to understand and generate natural language. Through extensive 
training on vast amounts of text data, they learn intricate language patterns. These models, 
often based on transformer architectures, consist of billions of parameters, enabling them to 
perform various language-related tasks. 
 
In practical applications, LLMs serve as the backbone for chatbots, virtual assistants, content 
generation, research assistance, and language translation. They have become accessible 
through interfaces like OpenAI’s Chat GPT-3 and GPT-4, Micorsoft’s Copilot, Google’s Gemini, 
Magic School, Canva, DALL-E, Midjourney, Adobe Firefly, Khanmigo, and countless others. 
 
LLMs represent a significant breakthrough in natural language processing (NLP) and artificial 
intelligence. As they continue to evolve, they are poised to reshape how we interact with 
technology and access information, making them a pivotal part of the modern digital 
landscape. 
 
In educational settings, both AI and GenAI benefit educators and students. They enable 
personalized learning, streamline assessments, and enhance content creation. Thoughtful 
implementation and ethical considerations are essential for maximizing their potential. 
 
To maximize the significant benefits AI can offer in education, both teachers and students 
must possess a foundational knowledge of how these models function. LLMs are distinct from 
search engines. A different approach for effective outcomes is essential. 
 
What is AI’s Role in Education? 
 
Artificial Intelligence (AI) is rapidly becoming a transformative force in education, offering a 
range of benefits that can significantly enhance teaching and learning. By personalizing 
learning experiences, AI can analyze individual needs and allow educators to customize their 
instruction, ensuring that each student's unique learning requirements are met. Interactive 
tools and immediate feedback mechanisms engage learners more deeply, fostering creativity 
and improving educational outcomes. 
 
Efficient data analysis is another key advantage, with AI providing educators with actionable 
insights that can inform teaching strategies and student support. Accessibility improvements 
are also notable; AI-powered tools such as read-aloud, dictation, translation, and captioning 
are making education more inclusive and equitable. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 18 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 5 of 12 

 
Moreover, AI's ability to generate custom educational content — from lesson plans to quizzes 
and rubrics — in any language and for any level, is a game-changer, allowing for a more tailored 
and scalable approach to curriculum development. 
 
The roles of AI in education, as outlined by Ouynag and Jiao (2021), range from directing 
cognitive learning (AI-Directed), supporting learners as they collaborate with AI (AI- 
Supported), to empowering learners to lead the interaction (AI-Empowered). As AI continues 
to evolve, it's crucial for educators to stay informed and prepared, equipping learners with the 
necessary skills to leverage AI tools effectively and responsibly, ensuring that all students have 
the opportunity to benefit from these advanced resources. The integration of AI in education 
is not just about the technology itself, but about fostering a learning environment where both 
educators and students can thrive. 

Safety, Security, and Privacy Considerations 

It is crucial that safety, security, and privacy are prioritized when educators and students use 
GenAI tools. Grand Erie adheres to Ontario’s Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection 
of Privacy Act (MFIPPA), which directs the Board’s privacy protection practices. Some tools may 
not comply with the safety and privacy standards set by governance, oversight bodies, or 
Grand Erie’s existing policies. This includes terms of use, data collection, consent, and the use 
and sharing of information entered into the tool. Privacy rights are implicated when handling 
personally identifying information, which is defined as any data that can identify an individual, 
such as a name, student number, or even an IP address. Depending on the tool, submitted 
information may be used for further training and shared with other users, potentially leading 
to privacy breaches, misuse, and misinformation (CyberArk Centre of Excellence, 2023). 

Guiding Principles 
 
Do no harm: All integration of AI in education must be in accordance with the policy and 
Information Technology standards that are set forth in Board and Provincial policies. This 
includes ensuring the safeguarding of the privacy, security, and confidentiality of personally 
identifiable information, ensuring that algorithms are not based on inherent biases that lead 
to discriminatory outcomes, and that AI is only allowed when its use has the potential to 
contribute positively and improve to the status quo. 
 
Prioritize integrity: A core purpose of education is the development of responsible, ethical, 
and engaged citizens. Therefore, part of the integration of AI in education must be to teach 
about morality, ethics, honour, cheating, and how artificial intelligence can lead to perverse 
and destructive outcomes for individuals, relationships, and communities. 
 
Augment, not replace humans: AI cannot and should not ever replace human judgement. 
Although synthesis and analysis of information can be expedited through AI, it will never 
replace teachers who provide wisdom, context, feedback, empathy, nurturing and humanity 
in ways that a machine cannot. It also should not overpower/over-ride the critical thinking, 
judgement, and morality of the learner. 
 
Harness AI to empower student success: AI presents transformative opportunities to enrich 
instruction and enable more adaptive, personalized learning. To fully leverage these benefits, 
we must embrace an outlook of innovation and experimentation, while ensuring access for all 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 19 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 6 of 12 

learners. Rather than just digitizing traditional practices, we can reimagine education to 
nurture each student’s unlimited potential with the assistive power of AI. Our vision should 
focus on possibility with AI as a gateway to expand human capacity, not conformity to 
conventions of the past. 
 
Work in partnership: AI researchers and experts in Ontario universities and employers are key 
partners and guides around building the skills and knowledge required to be successful in the 
new economy. This includes how to think about evolving AI systems and the practices needed 
to use them responsibly. 
 
Be constantly discerning and responsive to the continuous expansion of AI capabilities 
and uses: This is not a one-and-done. The guidelines, best practices, and tools available will 
constantly need to be revisited to keep pace with the changes brought by the exponential 
growth of AI and technology advancements in our world. Nimbleness and urgency, balanced 
with careful considerations, will be critical to ensuring we are as prepared for the continuous 
change ahead in education. 
 
Responsible Use of AI Tools 
 
Grand Erie recognizes that responsible uses of AI will vary depending on the context, such as 
a classroom activity or assignment. Teachers will clarify if, when, and how AI tools will be used, 
with input from students and families, while the school system will ensure compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations regarding data security and privacy. Appropriate AI use should 
be guided by the specific parameters and objectives defined for an activity. Below are some 
examples of responsible uses that serve educational goals. 
 
Student Learning 
 

• Aiding Creativity: Students can harness generative AI to spark creativity across diverse 
subjects, including writing, visual arts, and music composition. 

• Collaboration: Generative AI tools can partner with students in group projects by 
contributing concepts, supplying research support, and identifying relationships 
between varied information. 

• Communication: AI can offer students real-time translation, personalized language 
exercises, and interactive dialogue simulations. 

• Content Creation and Enhancement: AI can help generate personalized study 
materials, summaries, quizzes, and visual aids, help students organize thoughts and 
content, and help review content. 

• Tutoring: AI technologies have the potential to democratize one-to-one tutoring and 
support, making personalized learning more accessible to a broader range of students. 
AI-powered virtual teaching assistants may provide non-stop support, answer 
questions, help with homework, and supplement classroom instruction. 

 
Teacher Support 
 

• Assessment Design and Analysis: In addition to enhancing assessment design by 
creating questions and providing standardized feedback on common mistakes, AI can 
conduct diagnostic assessments to identify gaps in knowledge or skills and enable rich 
performance assessments. Teachers will ultimately be responsible for evaluation, 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 20 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 7 of 12 

feedback, and grading, including determining and assessing the usefulness of AI in 
supporting their grading work. AI will not be solely responsible for grading. 

• Content Development and Enhancement for Differentiation: AI can assist educators by 
differentiating curricula, suggesting lesson plans, generating diagrams and charts, and 
customizing independent practice based on student needs and proficiency levels. 

• Continuous Professional Development: AI can guide educators by recommending 
teaching and learning strategies based on student needs, personalizing professional 
development to teachers’ needs and interests, suggesting collaborative projects 
between subjects or teachers, and offering simulation-based training scenarios such as 
teaching a lesson or managing a parent/teacher conference. 

• Research and Resource Compilation: AI can help educators by recommending books 
or articles relevant to a lesson and updating teachers on teaching techniques, research, 
and methods. 

 
Pedagogy 
 
Bloom's Taxonomy provides an ideal lens through which educators can integrate Generative 
AI tools into their teaching methodologies. 
 

• Knowledge: Gathering and recall AI can be used to streamline the process of gathering 
and recalling factual information. Educators can guide students in using AI to quickly 
retrieve data, identify key concepts, or find examples that reinforce course material. 

• Comprehension: Understanding and interpretation AI tools can assist in summarizing 
texts, translating languages, or even explaining complex ideas in simpler terms. This 
can help students in not just understanding but also interpreting subject matter more 
effectively. 

• Application: Practical use of knowledge AI's potential in applying learned concepts in 
practical scenarios is immense. Whether it's using AI simulations for scientific 
experiments or applying mathematical concepts in coding, these tools can provide 
hands-on experience in a controlled, virtual environment. 

• Analysis: Dissecting and questioning with AI, students can learn to analyze data, 
recognize patterns, and critically assess information. AI tools can help in breaking down 
complex problems and can be particularly useful in subjects like data science and 
statistics. 

• Synthesis: Integration and creation AI can be a powerful ally in creative endeavours. 
From data visualization to creating film from text, AI tools can help students in 
synthesizing information and presenting that information in creative ways. 

• Evaluation: Critical thinking and judgment, AI can be used to teach students about 
bias in data, the importance of ethical considerations, and the limitations of AI itself. It 
encourages critical thinking and fosters a deeper understanding of the technology’s 
impact on society. They can also use AI tools for feedback and improving their own work 
using that feedback. 

• From “Moving from Learning to Use AI to Using AI for Learning: Bloom's Taxonomy 
for Utilising Generative AI Tools” by Stephanie Holt, Director of Learning and 
Teaching at DSB Mumbai 

 
AI & Mitigating Bias 
 
As educators use AI to create lessons and resources, use AI in lessons and teach about AI to 
students, educators must consider how to mitigate bias in the material that is created. Below 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 21 of 80

https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/moving-from-learning-use-ai-using-blooms-taxonomy-utilising-holt-duw8f/?utm_source=share&utm_medium=member_android&utm_campaign=share_via
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/moving-from-learning-use-ai-using-blooms-taxonomy-utilising-holt-duw8f/?utm_source=share&utm_medium=member_android&utm_campaign=share_via
https://www.linkedin.com/in/stephanieholteducation/


AI in Education 

Page 8 of 12 

is a list of meaningful ways to mitigate bias courtesy of Angela Stockman’s The English 
Teacher's Guide to AI 
 
Explicit Instruction: 
Begin with teaching students about AI bias, so they can recognize and report biased outputs 
or suggestions. 
Diverse Data Sets: 
If students are working with datasets, ensure they use diverse and representative samples for 
any AI tasks, including textual analyses. 
Multiple AI Tools: 
Encourage students to use multiple AI tools and compare results, helping them identify any 
consistent biases. 
Peer Reviews: 
Encourage peer review sessions where students can discuss the AI-generated feedback they 
received, comparing and contrasting different perspectives. 
Critical Thinking: 
Stress the importance of not accepting AI suggestions at face value. Students should question 
and understand AI recommendations, especially in areas like grammar or style suggestions. 
Transparency in Assignment: 
Clearly specify when and how students can use AI tools, and what limitations or precautions 
they should observe. 
Bias Detection Exercises: 
Design classroom activities where students deliberately feed diverse content into AI tools to 
spot potential biases or shortcomings. 
Feedback Channels: 
Establish a clear channel where students can report biases they encounter while using AI tools, 
fostering a feedback-driven classroom environment. 
Collaborative Exploration: 
Organize group activities where students collectively explore AI outputs, allowing for a broader 
analysis of potential biases. 
Ethical Use Discussions: 
Host discussions on the ethical implications of AI, including biases, helping students 
understand the broader societal implications. 
Continuous Updates: 
Stay updated on the latest research on AI biases, especially as they pertain to language and 
literature, and integrate findings into classroom discussions and practices. 
Contextual Analysis: 
Encourage students to consider the cultural, historical, and social context of texts when 
evaluating AI-generated analyses or feedback, ensuring a holistic understanding. 
External Expertise: 
Invite AI experts or scholars who focus on AI ethics to talk to students, offering a deeper 
understanding of the current challenges and solutions. 
Critical Analysis of Tools: 
Regularly review the AI tools being used in the classroom for any reported biases and consider 
switching to more equitable alternatives when available. 
Iterative Process: 
Reinforce that AI is a tool and not an absolute authority. Encourage students to iterate their 
work based on a combination of AI feedback, personal reflection, and human input. 
 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 22 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 9 of 12 

Guidelines for Ethical Use of AI Tools 
 

• Transparency: Always disclose when and how AI was used in the creation of an 
assignment or project. 

• Original Thought: Use AI as a supplement, not a replacement, ensuring your work 
primarily represents your own ideas and understanding. 

• Respect Copyright: Do not input copyrighted texts or materials into AI systems without 
proper authorization. 

• Privacy: Avoid entering personal information or that of classmates into AI tools, 
especially without consent. 

• Consent: Always get permission before using another student’s work in conjunction 
with AI, even if it's just for analysis or improvement suggestions. 

• Critical Thinking: Scrutinize suggestions or outputs from AI. Don't accept them blindly; 
they aren't always correct or the best choice. 

• Understanding Over Dependency: Instead of relying solely on AI for corrections, strive 
to understand the rationale behind the suggestions. 

• Limit Plagiarism: Use AI tools ethically to check for unintentional plagiarism, but never 
to rewrite or "spin" content to bypass plagiarism detectors. 

• Avoid Misrepresentation: Don't use AI to falsely enhance or modify your capabilities, 
such as faking a certain reading level or vocabulary. 

• Respect Classroom Policies: Always adhere to class, school and board 
guidelines/procedures concerning AI use, even if you disagree or find them restrictive. 

• Feedback Loop: If using AI for iterative feedback, ensure that the tool is not merely 
reinforcing its own biases or errors. 

• Cultural Sensitivity: Be wary of AI biases. If using AI for content suggestions, be critical 
and avoid perpetuating stereotypes or misinformation. 

• Stay Updated: AI tools evolve quickly. Regularly check if the tools you're using have 
been updated or if their terms of use have changed. 

• Share and Educate: If you find valuable insights or ethical concerns about an AI tool, 
share with classmates and teachers to foster collective learning. 

• Ethical Tool Selection: Opt for AI tools that are transparent about their data usage 
policies and are committed to ethical practices. 

 
Courtesy of Angela Stockman, The English Teacher's Guide to AI 

 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 23 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 10 of 12 

Using AI Responsibly EVERY Time 

 
 

from AI for Education & Vera Cubero 2023 
 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 24 of 80



AI in Education 

Page 11 of 12 

 
 

Which AI Tool Should I Use? 
 
Microsoft Copilot 
Copilot, a large language model developed by Microsoft, is a machine learning model that is 
able to generate human-like text based on the input provided. 
 
While Copilot does not have direct Internet access, its responses include links to Internet-
based resources to verify the accuracy and credibility of the information provided. 
 
This tool is available to use in Grand Erie and can be accessed in a few ways: 
copilot.microsoft.com, as a sidebar in Microsoft Edge (click the icon at the top right of the 
screen in MS Edge to activate the sidebar), or bing.com by selecting "copilot". Copilot uses a 
GPT-4 engine. 
 

• Microsoft has more data and privacy protections in place for children and young people 
compared to other platforms 

• Copilot in Bing has data retention and deletion policies…That means you can better 
control your data! 

• Personal and company data are protected when using Bing chat and if you are logged 
in using your board credentials 

• Microsoft does not collect location data from users 
• Any prompts that are inputted into Copilot or anything created with Copilot is 

immediately owned by Microsoft. They can use prompts and creations (without paying 
you) however they see fit. So, if students come up with a super amazing prompt that 
turns Copilot into a tutor for your class…Microsoft will own that prompt and could 
use/sell/share 

• It can generate images based on user prompts 
• It can accept images and voice as prompts and respond with text 
• Visual Search allows users to input images into Copilot and ask questions about them. 

You can ask questions about images that are difficult to describe, for example; get a 
recipe for a dish you don’t know the name of, identify a dog breed you don’t recognize, 
and much more. To use Visual Search, click on the camera icon in the input bar in 
Copilot, upload a picture from your device or provide a website link, and ask away! 

• Provides more accurate and nuanced responses because it runs on GPT-4 which is 10 
times more advanced than its predecessor, GPT-3.5. This enhancement enables the 
model to better understand the context and distinguish nuances, resulting in more 
accurate and coherent responses 

• Connected to the internet and is continuously trained on new data 
 
  

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 25 of 80

https://copilot.microsoft.com/
https://bing.com/


AI in Education 

Page 12 of 12 

Sources 
 
How to Use AI Responsibly EVERY Time Infographic. (n.d.). AI for Education. 
www.aiforeducation.io/ai-resources/how-to-use-ai-responsibly-every-time 
 
Mormando, Samuel (November 9, 2023). “Creating AI Usage Guidelines for Students” 
Edutopia: www.edutopia.org/article/creating-ai-usage-guidelines-students/ 
 
North Carolina Department of Public Instruction (NCDPI). “North Carolina Generative AI 
Implementation Recommendations and Considerations for PK-13 Public Schools.” 16 January 
2024, www.dpi.nc.gov/news/press-releases/2024/01/16/ncdpi-releases-guidance-use-
artificial-intelligence-schools 
 
Ouyang, F., & Jiao, P. (2021). Artificial intelligence in education: The three paradigms. 
Computers and Education: Artificial Intelligence, 2, Article#100020. 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.caeai.2021.100020 
 
Stockman, Angela. (2024). The English Teacher’s Guide to AI is licensed under CC BY-NC 4.0 
 
Trust, Tory Ph.D., (2024) "AI & Ethics" slide deck. Licensed under CC BY NC 4..0 
UNESCO. (2023). Guidance for GenAI in education and research (No. 6945). In F. Miao & W. 
Holmes (Eds.). ISBN 978-92-3-100612-8. 
https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000386693.locale=en 
 
Waterloo Catholic District School Board. “WCDSB Guidelines for responsible Educator Use of 
Gen AI.” 2024, https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qqJzEz- 
r5IRbpUokzlCfsvOp1CKwuDF5/view 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 26 of 80

http://www.aiforeducation.io/ai-resources/how-to-use-ai-responsibly-every-time
http://www.edutopia.org/article/creating-ai-usage-guidelines-students/
https://www.dpi.nc.gov/news/press-releases/2024/01/16/ncdpi-releases-guidance-use-artificial-intelligence-schools
https://www.dpi.nc.gov/news/press-releases/2024/01/16/ncdpi-releases-guidance-use-artificial-intelligence-schools
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.caeai.2021.100020
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1g6yg-aPLHuq4SrkRU-V_BOF2gNNTsR7v/view
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1x3G2zHUNz0_luCP8WghoPWbXBRWLaRv0Nern2DSAuIc/edit#slide=id.g2bc6dfcabf1_0_131
https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000386693.locale=en
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qqJzEz-%20r5IRbpUokzlCfsvOp1CKwuDF5/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qqJzEz-%20r5IRbpUokzlCfsvOp1CKwuDF5/view


C-1-a 
 

Grand Erie District School Board 
 
   

 

TO: Audit Committee 

FROM: Rafal Wyszynski, Superintendent of Business & Treasurer 

RE: Audit Reports – Recommendations Tracking 

DATE: June 12, 2025 
   
 
Overview  
Grand Erie District School Board (Grand Erie) strengthens its commitment to continuous 
improvement, accountability, and operational excellence through reports and 
recommendations provided through Internal Audits. This update focuses on revisiting the 
recommendations from internal audits completed over the past five years.  
 
The objective is to extract and assess key findings from prior audits so that the Audit 
Committee has comfort that appropriate follow-up actions have been taken and that 
identified risks have been mitigated. This approach not only ensures that previous 
recommendations are not overlooked but also helps us identify recurring themes, risks, and 
opportunities to further improve our operations This work highlights the Board's actions with 
respect to sound governance, risk management, and the ongoing enhancement of internal 
controls. 
 
To ensure transparency and accountability, we will provide annual updates to the Audit 
Committee each June. These updates will summarize key audit findings, highlight progress 
made, outline any remaining challenges, and offer new recommendations where necessary. 
 
The following table provides insight into prior internal audits, along with the current status of 
significant recommendations. This overview is intended to give the Audit Committee a clear 
line of sight into the nature of the findings, the actions taken in response, and any outstanding 
items that require further attention. 
 

Audit Type Recommendation Status 

Fraud Risk 
(2020) 

Review Cyber Security program (focused on fraud risk 
element) Completed 

Define fraud policy and procedures 
Planned for 

2025-26 

Introduce a conflict of interest policy Planned for 
2025-26 

 
Audit Type Recommendation Status 

Remote 
Learning & 

Privacy 
(2021) 

Update content (policies/procedures) related to privacy 
on Grand Erie website 

80% Complete 

Inventory of PI/PHI and system managing PI/PHI is not 
maintained formally. Additionally, Grand Erie does not 
have defined and documented enterprise-wide data 
classification policy 

40% Complete, 
ongoing 

 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 27 of 80



C-1-a Audit Reports – Recommendations Tracking  Page 2 

Audit Type Recommendation Status 

Student 
Recruitment 

(2022) 

Formalize the existing method related to projections by 
identifying and monitoring the factors in the changing 
environment, trend analysis and documenting the 
factors/ assumptions used for recruitment projections 

80% Complete 

Formalize documentation around student recruitment 
strategies and update as required 

Completed 

 
Audit Type Recommendation Status 

Student 
Mental 
Health 
(2023) 

No significant recommendations Completed 

 
Audit Type Recommendation Status 

Math 
Achievement 

Strategy 
(2024) 

Develop a needs-based model to allocate resources to 
schools. This would involve a phased strategy for 
distributing the time of coaches, which delivers more 
support in initial years for math sections of priority 
schools 

Completed 

Adopt AI technologies to ensure the board can 
effectively respond to potential changes in Ministry 
funding for math priorities 

Ongoing 

Define additional KPIs to measure and monitor the 
implementation of the Math Achievement Action Plan 

Completed, but 
ongoing 

monitoring 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Rafal Wyszynski  
Superintendent of Business & Treasurer 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 28 of 80



KPMG Regional Internal 
Audit 

2025-2027 IA Plan

Grand Erie District School Board
FOR APPROVAL 

June 12, 2025

E-1-b

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 29 of 80



2Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Disclaimer
This document has been prepared by KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) for the Grand Erie District School Board (“GEDSB” or “Client pursuant to the terms of the Regional Internal Audit 

Request for Proposal – 671 (the “RFP”), the Master Services Agreement (the “MSA”) for Regional Internal Audit Services and the 2024-25 Statement of Work dated November 24, 

2024. 

KPMG neither warrants nor represents that the information contained in this report is accurate, complete, sufficient or appropriate for use by any person or entity other than the 

participating boards or for any purpose other than set out in the Engagement Agreement. This report may not be relied upon by any person or entities other than the participating 

boards, and KPMG hereby expressly disclaims any and all responsibility or liability to any person or entity other than Client in connection with their use of this report.

This document is based on information and documentation that was made available to KPMG at the date of this report. KPMG has not audited nor otherwise attempted to 

independently verify the information provided unless otherwise indicated.  Should additional information be provided to KPMG after the issuance of this report, KPMG reserves the 

right (but will be under no obligation) to review this information and adjust its comments accordingly.  

Pursuant to the terms of our engagement, it is understood and agreed that all decisions in connection with the implementation of advice and recommendations as provided by 

KPMG during the course of this engagement shall be the responsibility of, and made by, the Client. KPMG has not and will not perform management functions or make 

management decisions for the Client. 

This document may include or make reference to future oriented financial information. Readers are cautioned that since these financial projections are based on assumptions 

regarding future events, actual results will vary from the information presented even if the hypotheses occur, and the variations may be material.  

Comments in this report are not intended, nor should they be interpreted, to be legal advice or opinion.

KPMG has no present or contemplated interest in the participating boards nor are we an insider or associate of the participating boards. Accordingly, we believe we are 

independent of the participating boards and are acting objectively.

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 30 of 80



Overview of the IA 
Planning Process

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 31 of 80



4Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Overview of Internal Audit (IA) Plan

The key considerations are illustrated on the following page. 

02
The initial IA  plan was 

developed through layering a 

series of elements over the 

audit universe to identify 

audits that would address the 

highest risk and priority 

areas.

01
Good practice is to build a 

plan that addresses current 

needs of the organization 

aligned with the risk 

management priorities and 

stakeholders’ expectations. 03
The starting point was the 

refresh of the risk universe 

which includes all potential 

school board risks. This 

contained inputs as 

described on slide 7. 

04
The initial IA plan (as 

presented in this 

document) is based on 

the current information 

from the Risk Refresh 

process. Refer to 

appendix B – Risk Driver 

Analysis

05
The two proposed audits are 

to be presented to the Audit 

Committee by June 2025. 

The 2026/27 audit project 

selection will be re-confirmed 

in April 2026.

There is no single model for the development of an IA plan. The Regional Internal Audit Team (RIAT) considered the following principles:

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 32 of 80



5Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Internal Audit Planning – Our Three Step Process

IA Planning Inputs (Risk 

Refresh Survey)

Ensure the IA plan is developed 

considering each board’s historical issues 

and challenges, risk reports, leadership 

perspective, sector risks and trends, and 

strategic and operating plan. This is 

achieved through the risk survey and a 

review of past audit history (refer to 

appendix A). 

Audit Committee Input

Engage the Audit Committee and present 

relevant factors for scoping considered by 

RIAT. 

Analyze Risk Survey 

Results

Results of the bi-annual risk survey are 

analysed and reviewed with management 

to validate risks and understand the 

unique risk universe for each board. Refer 

to appendix B – Risk Driver Analysis

03

02

01

25-27 IA 

Plan

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 33 of 80



Summary of Risk Survey 
Results

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 34 of 80



7Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

How did RIAT analyze risk survey results? 
RIAT reviewed the completed risk survey results and completed the following analysis: 

Review of Risk Events

KPMG reviewed the significance rankings for the risk events within each risk category. The analysis was focused on risk events with a high to moderate 

significance ranking. Overall, two IT risk events (cyber attack and privacy breach) had the highest average risk rating. Common concerns noted by boards 

included Bill 194 and the impact on third party vendors, as well as available resources. One emerging risk event was highlighted in the top 10 – disruptive 

behaviour or conflict in the school environment escalated into disciplinary action or enforcement. This is a result of an increase in dysregulated behaviour 

that can lead to disruptive classrooms and/or unsafe school environment. This aligns with a new focus on student resilience within the student well-being risk 

category.

Review of Risk Drivers

RIAT reviewed the ranking of risk drivers within each risk category to identify trends that can provide further context to the significance rankings of the risk 

events. Drivers were rated in order of relevance to each board. Overall, the analysis of risk drivers informs the development of specific audit objectives that 

are addressed through the audit plan. 

Comparison Across the South West Region

Finally, RIAT compared the results of the survey against all boards in the south west region. This provided insight it common risks and trends across all 

boards that may be addressed through horizonal auditing. In addition, RIAT compared results against the previous risk survey to gain an understanding of 

how risks have changed and how RIAT has responded. 

01

02

03

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 35 of 80



8Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

2025 Regional Risk Universe – How have things changed?
Year over Year 
Comparison
Overall, a number of risk categories saw a 

decrease in average risk rating when compared 

to the previous risk survey. This includes risk 

events within strategic planning, information 

systems, human resource management, 

student-wellbeing and faith. 

A key success can be noted in the student well-

being risk category. Over the past two years, 

RIAT has preformed various reviews on the 

work completed to support student and staff 

mental health. These reviews, and the 

strategies in place at each board, have given 

management confidence that appropriate 

actions have been taken to mitigate the impact 

of student well-being risk. As we look forward, 

there is an opportunity to transition this work to 

focus on student resilience. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 36 of 80



9Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Top Risk Events
2025 Top Risk Events 
YoY Comparison
This bar graph comparison the rating of the top 

10 risk events to the previous risk survey. 

Overall, the largest increases were seen in 

privacy concerns and increased media scrutiny. 

Several risk events, including cyber attack, 

changes in funding level, and privacy breaches 

were also top risks in the 2023 survey.  

For the purposes of the risk survey, the risk of a 

privacy breach is defined as the potential for 

unauthorized access, disclosure, or destruction 

of personal information. The risk of privacy 

relates to potential threats to a board’s personal 

information that arise from the activities of 

monitoring, data collection and surveillance. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 37 of 80



10Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Top Risk Events (GEDSB)

Risk Analysis
The top five risk events based on the risk 

refresh survey results from GEDSB are:

1. Monitoring privacy

2. Student health & safety

3. Increased media scrutiny

4. Liabilities related to misconduct/ethical 

breaches by Trustees

5. Liability related to unknown risk

Full details on risk drivers within each category 

can be found in appendix B: Risk Driver 

Analysis. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 38 of 80



Proposed IA Plan

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 39 of 80



12Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Internal Audit Plan Development

How does RIAT develop the IA 
Plan?
Regional Internal Audit uses the following process to 

develop the IA plan: 

1. RIAT uses an online risk evaluation survey to 

identify and evaluate risks.

2. The survey allows RIAT to review cross regional 

trends to prepare an internal audit plan (2026- 

2027) for the South Region that considers 

horizontal audit opportunities – with rationale.  

3. Should a common audit not be feasible, KPMG 

RIAT will facilitate individual workshops based 

on board specific survey results.

4. The risk workshop held with the SBO of each 

board was summarized for the May/June Audit 

Committee meeting. 

5. A minimum of two alternative audit 

projects/engagements will be proposed for Audit 

Committee’s input and acceptance. 

This approach allows KPMG to better understand 

the risks and use consistent risk event taxonomy 

across all school boards. 

Overall, the 2025-27 IA plan should:

• Be based on the direction of the input from management and the Audit Committee.

• Agree with the engagement terms / statement of work for the outsourced RIAT services (e.g. types of 

deliverables, budget etc.).

• Involve commitment from subject matter experts prior to finalization of the audit plan.

To achieve these objectives, the following inputs are considered as part of the bi-annual risk refresh 

planning process:

Internal Audit 
Plan

Historical Issues / Challenges

Risk reports / 

documents

Leadership 

perspective

Sector risks 

and trends

Strategic plan 

and operating 

plan

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 40 of 80



13Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Internal Audit Planning 

Strategy, Governance, 

Leadership
Information Systems

Program Financial 

Management

Human Resource 

Mgmt.

Student Achievement & 

Resilience

• Leadership Change & 

Culture (E)

• Third party security 

assessment (E) (H)

• Embedding AI

• Dependency 

• Fulfillment of ministry 

directives tied to funding 

(H) (C)

Professional Development 

Planning & Strategy (H)

• Student engagement / re-

engagement

•Social Emotional Learning (E)

•Student Supports (H) (E)

• Crisis Management 

Training & Governance (H)
• Program Sustainability 

Assessment (E)

• Student achievement planning 

and initiative monitoring 

•Attendance monitoring (H) 

(DA)

• Change management: 

program discontinuation

Five audit themes informed by common risks rated with high significance 

Legend
(C) Indicate audit would have a significant compliance focus.

(DA) Indicates audit would leverage data analytics.

(E) Emerging Risk 

(H) Indicates the engagement would be horizontal.

There were many commonly rated risk events across all the 10 boards that participated in the Risk Re-fresh Survey. As a result, RIAT identified 

potential audit topics that address risk drivers (especially those correlated with risk shocks) within five themes. Note that risk shock refers to 

an unexpected event that disrupts a board’s risk environment, leading to significant changes in risk exposure or the risk landscape

1. Leadership Change & 

Culture (E)

a. Board Leadership

b. School Principals

2. Crisis Management 

Training & Governance (H)

3. Third party security 

assessment (E) (H)

a. Embedding AI

b. Dependency 

4. Fulfillment of ministry 

directives tied to funding 

(H) (C)

5. Program Sustainability 

Assessment (E)

6. Change management: 

program discontinuation

7. Professional Development 

Planning & Strategy (H)

8. Attendance Support 

(H)(DA)

9. Student engagement / re-

engagement

a.Social Emotional 

Learning (E)

b.Student Supports (H) (E)

10. Student achievement 

initiative monitoring 

a. Attendance monitoring 

(H) (DA)

b.Math Achievement 

(H)(DA)

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 41 of 80



14Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Audit Plan Development - GEDSB

Audit Theme Factors Impacting Scoping for GEDSB

IT Capacity 

Management

The review of IT capacity would address: 

• The risk that legacy systems and aging IT infrastructure are not keeping pace with the organizational needs of the board. 

Potential scope of the audit may include: 

• Review of the processes to monitor and manage system capacity.

• Review of processes to ensure the board is monitoring IT capabilities and planning for future capacities on a regular cadence.

• Review of the cost of IT program delivery to determine value for money. 

Program Continuity & 

Sustainability 

Assessment (E)

The review of the sustainability of select program(s) would address: 

• The risk of changes in funding levels, change in demographics, and uncontrollable external events are impacting the ability to maintain the 

delivery of programs. 

Potential scope of the audit may include: 

• Evaluation of the economical, efficient and effective use of resources to meet intended performance objectives/goals.

Crisis Management 

Training & Governance 

(H)

The review of the board’s crisis management training & governance would address: 

• The risk of media scrutiny and public challenge resulting in increased complexity of governance matters requiring enhanced board 

education on emerging threats/ risks (e.g. geo-political factors).

Potential scope of the audit may include: 

• Review of the training and awareness of leadership and trustees and the related processes. 

• Internal communication systems and policies that govern overall preparedness and response to a prolonged high risk crisis events.

Third party security 

assessment (E) (H)

• Dependency 

A third party security assessment would address: 

• The risk that the board’s response to Bill 194 is inadequate to safeguard personal and sensitive data. 

Potential scope of the audit may include: 

• Review of select third party contracts to ensure alignment with the board’s privacy and cyber security regulations (i.e., comply with Bill 

194). 

• Evaluation of the board's vendor onboarding process, including a review of how vendors are vetted for data security practices and 

their compliance with Bill 194. 

• Evaluation of the board’s monitoring practices for continuous oversight of third-party IT vendors. 

RIAT identified three potential audit projects/engagements for Audit Committee’s input and selection for recommendation to the Board of Trustees. Audit 

Committees/the Board of Trustees determine which audits RIAT will perform and may provide input in terms of appetite for planning the selected engagement (s) 

using Horizontal Auditing.

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 42 of 80



Appendices

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 43 of 80



Appendix A: Other 
Considerations

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 44 of 80



17Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

The table below shows audits that have been completed by internal audit from 2017 – present.

Number of RIAT Engagements Year

Project Title

2017-

2018

2018-

2019

2019-

2020

2020-

2021

2021-

2022

2022-

2023

2023-

2024

2024-

2025 Total

Advisory

Attendance Support & Employee Assistance Programs 1

Attendance Support Program - Needs Assessment 1

Fraud Risk Assessment 1

Remote Learning Privacy Review 1

Student Achievement in Math - Initial Assessment of Math Achievement Action 

Plan 1

Student Recruitment 1

Unsupported Capital Management 1

Assurance

Enrolment Management 1

Student Mental Health Policy and Strategy Implementation 1

Total 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9

Previous Internal Audit Activities Completed

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 45 of 80



Appendix B: Risk Driver 
Analysis

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 46 of 80



19Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Overview of Risk Survey Results
KPMG analyzed the results of the risk survey using tableau software. The risk dashboard identified the top rated risks and allows use to compare responses by Board. 
The following is the risk dashboard for GEDSB:

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 47 of 80



20Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Risk Driver Analysis
The dashboard below highlights the top human resources risk events and drivers based on the risk refresh survey results. The left hand bar graphs notes the ranking of the 
governance risk events, while the right hand chart provides the prioritized ranking of risk drivers for the category. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 48 of 80



21Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Risk Driver Analysis
The dashboard below highlights the top compliance monitoring risk events and drivers based on the risk refresh survey results. The left hand bar graphs notes the ranking of 
the compliance monitoring risk events, while the right hand chart provides the prioritized ranking of risk drivers for the category. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 49 of 80



22Document Classification: KPMG Public
© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private 

English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization.

Risk Driver Analysis
The dashboard below highlights the top information systems risk events and drivers based on the risk refresh survey results. The left hand bar graphs notes the ranking of the 
information systems risk events, while the right hand chart provides the prioritized ranking of risk drivers for the category. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 50 of 80



Document Classification: KPMG Public

The information contained herein is of a general nature and is not intended to address the circumstances of any particular individual or entity. 

Although we endeavour to provide accurate and timely information, there can be no guarantee that such information is accurate as of the date it is 

received or that it will continue to be accurate in the future. No one should act on such information without appropriate professional advice after a 

thorough examination of the particular situation.

© 2025 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 

affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 

The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization

home.kpmg/ca

home.kpmg/ca

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 51 of 80

http://www.home.kpmg/ca
https://www.youtube.com/KPMGCanada
https://twitter.com/KPMG_Canada
https://www.linkedin.com/company/kpmg-canada
https://www.instagram.com/kpmgcanada/


June 12, 2025 

Grand Erie District School Board
349 Erie Avenue
Brantford Ontario  N3T 5V3

Attention: Rafal Wyszynski, Superintendent of Business & Treasurer

Dear Rafal:

The Objective and Scope of the Audit

You have requested that we audit the consolidated financial statements of Grand Erie District School Board (the
"Board"), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at August 31, 2025, and the
consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net debt and cash flow for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, (including a summary of significant accounting policies).

We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of the nature, scope and terms of this audit
engagement, and all services related thereto, by means of this letter (the "Engagement").

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement (whether due to fraud or error) and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

The Responsibilities of the Auditor

We will conduct our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

a. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements (whether due to
fraud or error), design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

b. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's internal control. However, we will communicate to you in writing concerning any significant deficiencies
in internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements that we have identified during
the audit.

c. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP

85 Robinson Street, Simcoe, ON N3Y 1W7     T: 519.426.1606

SIMCOE   BRANTFORD   HAGERSVILLE

E-1-a

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 52 of 80



d.  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going-concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the 's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the  to cease to continue as a going concern.

e.  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements (including the
disclosures) and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, there is an
unavoidable risk that some material misstatements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned
and performed in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

Form and Content of Audit Opinion

Unless unanticipated difficulties are encountered, our report will be substantially in the following form contained in
Appendix A to this letter.

If we conclude that a modification to our opinion on the consolidated financial statements is necessary, we will
discuss the reasons with you in advance.

The Responsibilities of Management

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance /
oversight acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility:

a.  For the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the basis
of accounting as described in Note 1 of the financial statements.

b.  For the design and implementation of such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

c.  To provide us with timely:

i.  Access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, such as records, documentation and other matters;

ii.  Information about all known or suspected fraud, any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud and 
any known or probable instances of non-compliance with legislative or regulatory requirements;

iii.  Additional information that we may request from management for the purpose of the audit; and

A.  Copies of all minutes of meetings of trustees and directors;

B.  Information relating to any known or probable instances of non-compliance with legislative or regulatory
requirements, including financial reporting requirements;

C.  Information concerning subsequent events.

iv.  Unrestricted access to persons within Grand Erie District School Board from whom we determine it
necessary to obtain audit evidence.

As part of our audit process:

a.  We will make inquiries of management about the representations contained in the consolidated financial
statements. At the conclusion of the audit, we will request from management [and, where appropriate, those
charged with governance] written confirmation concerning those representations. If such representations are
not provided in writing, management acknowledges and understands that we would be required to disclaim an
audit opinion. 

b.  We will communicate any misstatements identified during the audit other than those that are clearly trivial. We
request that management correct all the misstatements communicated.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 53 of 80



Use of Information

It is acknowledged that we will have access to all information about identified individuals ("personal information") in
your custody that we require to complete our Engagement. Our services are provided on the basis that:

a.  You represent to us that management has obtained any required consents for our collection, use, disclosure,
storage, transfer and process of personal information required under applicable privacy legislation and
professional regulation; and

b.  We will hold all personal information in compliance with our Privacy Statement.

File Inspections

In accordance with professional regulations (and by our firm's policy), our client files may be periodically reviewed by
practice inspectors and by other engagement file reviewers to ensure that we are adhering to our professional and
firm standards. File reviewers are required to maintain confidentiality of client information.

Confidentiality

One of the underlying principles of the profession is a duty of confidentiality with respect to client affairs. Each
professional accountant must preserve the secrecy of all confidential information that becomes known during the
practice of the profession. Accordingly, we will not provide any third party with confidential information concerning
the affairs of Grand Erie District School Board unless:

a.  We have been specifically authorized with prior consent;

b.  We have been ordered or expressly required by law or by the Ontario Code of Professional Conduct/Code of
Ethics; or

c.  The information requested is (or enters into) public domain.

Use and Distribution of Our Report

The examination of the consolidated financial statements and the issuance of our audit report are solely for the use
of Grand Erie District School Board and those to whom our report is specifically addressed by us. We make no
representations or warranties of any kind to any third party in respect of these consolidated financial statements or
our audit report, and we accept no responsibility for their use by any third party or any liability to anyone other than
Grand Erie District School Board.

For greater clarity, our audit will not be planned or conducted for any third party or for any specific transaction.
Accordingly, items of possible interest to a third party may not be addressed and matters may exist that would be
assessed differently by a third party, including, without limitation, in connection with a specific transaction. Our audit
report should not be circulated (beyond Grand Erie District School Board) or relied upon by any third party for any
purpose, without our prior written consent.

You agree that our name may be used only with our prior written consent and that any information to which we have
attached a communication be issued with that communication, unless otherwise agreed to by us in writing.

Reproduction of Auditor's Report

If reproduction or publication of our audit report (or reference to our report) is planned in an annual report or other
document, including electronic filings or posting of the report on a website, a copy of the entire document should be
submitted to us in sufficient time for our review and approval in writing before the publication or posting process
begins.

Management is responsible for the accurate reproduction of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor's
report and other related information contained in an annual report or other public document (electronic or paper-
based). This includes any incorporation by reference to either full or summarized consolidated financial statements
that we have audited.

We are not required to read the information contained in your website or to consider the consistency of other
information in the electronic site with the original document.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 54 of 80



Communications

In performing our services, we will send messages and documents electronically. As such communications can be
intercepted, misdirected, infected by a virus or otherwise used or communicated by an unintended third party, we
cannot guarantee or warrant that communications from us will be properly delivered only to the addressee.
Therefore, we specifically disclaim, and you release us from, any liability or responsibility whatsoever for interception
or unintentional disclosure of communications transmitted by us in connection with the performance of this
Engagement. In that regard, you agree that we shall have no liability for any loss or damage to any person or entity
resulting from such communications, including any that are consequential, incidental, direct, indirect, punitive,
exemplary or special damages (such as loss of data, revenues, or anticipated profits).

If you do not consent to our use of electronic communications, please notify us in writing.

Ownership

The working papers, files, other materials, reports and work created, developed or performed by us during the
course of the Engagement are the property of our firm, constitute our confidential information and will be retained by
us in accordance with our firm's policies and procedures.

During the course of our work, we may provide, for your own use, certain software, spreadsheets and other
intellectual property to assist with the provision of our services. Such software, spreadsheets and other intellectual
property must not be copied, distributed or used for any other purpose. We also do not provide any warranties in
relation to these items and will not be liable for any lost or corrupted data or other damage or loss suffered or
incurred by you in connection with your use of them.

We retain the copyright and all intellectual property rights in any original materials provided to you.

Other Services

In addition to the audit services referred to above, we will, as allowed by the Ontario Code of Professional
Conduct/Code of Ethics, prepare your federal and provincial income tax returns as agreed upon. Unless expressly
agreed in a separate engagement letter, we will have no involvement with or responsibility for the preparation or
filing of HST returns or any other (including foreign)  tax returns, source deductions, information returns, slips,
elections, designations, certificates or reports. Management will, on a timely basis, provide the information
necessary to complete these federal and provincial income tax returns and will review and file them with the
appropriate authorities on a timely basis.

Canadian Standard on Related Services  - Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements ("CSRS 4400")

You have requested that we perform specified auditing procedures on the Schedules and Educational Finance
Information System (EFIS) forms requested by the Ministry of Education from the Grand Erie District School Board
for the period from September 1, 2025 to March 31, 2026 of financial reporting requirements of the Ministry of
Education. Our engagement will be conducted in accordance with the Canadian Standard on Related Services
(CSRS) Section 4400, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagement. In performing the specified auditing procedures, we
will comply with the relevant ethical requirements.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 55 of 80



Our responsibilities

We will be involved in performing specified auditing procedures on the annual information return in accordance with
the instructions received for the above reports submission requirement by the Ministry of Education. This
engagement to apply specified auditing procedures procedures is performed in accordance with standards
established by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. The procedures that we will perform are solely
for the purpose of assisting you in determining the findings based on these procedures. Accordingly, our report will
be addressed to you and our report may not be suitable for another purpose. We have provided you with our draft
report, and is in accordance with the specified auditing procedures required report for this engagement. However,
the final form will reflect the results of our engagement.

Unless unanticipated difficulties are encountered, our report will be substantially in the form outlined below. 

AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES REPORT IN CONNECTION WITH THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE BOARD
FINANCIAL INFORMATION INTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO.

Purpose of this Agreed-Upon Procedures Report

Our report is for use solely in connection with the consolidation of the Board financial information into the
financial statements of the Province of Ontario and is requested by the Grand Erie District School Board (“the
Board”) to perform the detailed procedures as detailed in Appendix 1, for the period from September 1, 2025, to
March 31, 2026 (“the period”).

Responsibilities of the Engaging Party and the Responsible Party

The Board has acknowledged that the agreed-upon procedures are appropriate for the purpose of the
engagement.

The Ministry of Education, as identified by the Board, is responsible for the subject matter on which the agreed-
upon procedures are performed.

Practitioner's Responsibilities

We have conducted the agreed-upon procedures engagement in accordance with the Canadian Standard on
Related Services (CSRS) 4400, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements. An agreed-upon procedures
engagement involves our performing the procedures that have been agreed with the Board, and reporting the
findings, which are the factual results of the agreed-upon procedures performed. We make no representation
regarding the appropriateness of the agreed-upon procedures.

This agreed-upon procedures engagement is not an assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the related Schedules of EFIS as at March 31, 2026 and for the period from September 1, 2025 to
March 31, 2026. 

Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that would have been
reported.

Professional Ethics and Quality Management

We have complied with the ethical requirements in CSRS 4400 and the independence requirements in
accordance with Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. For the purpose of this engagement, there are
no independence requirements with which we are required to comply.

Our firm applies Canadian Standard on Quality Management (CSQM) 1, Quality Management for Firms that
Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements,
which requires the firm to design, implement and operate a system of quality management including policies or
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

Procedures and Findings

We have performed the procedures described below in Appendix 1, which were agreed upon with the Board, on
its reporting to the Ministry of Education. As a result of applying the below procedures, we found no exceptions.

Our work will be conducted on the basis that management [and, where appropriate, those charged with governance]
acknowledge and understand that they are responsible for:

a.  Providing us with timely access to all information that is relevant to the other reporting responsibility

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 56 of 80



Governing Legislation

This engagement letter is subject to, and governed by, the laws of the Province of Ontario. The Province of Ontario
will have exclusive jurisdiction in relation to any claim, dispute or difference concerning this engagement letter and
any matter arising from it. Each party irrevocably waives any right it may have to object to any action being brought
in those courts, to claim that the action has been brought in an inappropriate forum or to claim that those courts do
not have jurisdiction.

Accounting Advice

Except as outlined in this letter, this Engagement does not contemplate the provision of specific accounting advice
or opinions or the issuance of a written report on the application of accounting standards to specific transactions and
to the facts and circumstances of the entity. Such services, if requested, would be provided under a separate
engagement letter.

Dispute Resolution

You agree that any dispute that may arise regarding the meaning, performance or enforcement of this Engagement
will, prior to resorting to litigation, be submitted to mediation.

Indemnity

Grand Erie District School Board hereby agrees to indemnify, defend (by counsel retained and instructed by us) and
hold harmless our firm (and its partners, agents and employees) from and against any and all losses, costs
(including solicitors’ fees), damages, expenses, claims, demands and liabilities arising out of (or in consequence of):

a.  The breach by Grand Erie District School Board, or its directors, officers, agents or employees, of any of the
covenants or obligations of Grand Erie District School Board herein, including, without restricting the generality
of the foregoing, the misuse of, or the unauthorized dissemination of, our engagement report or the
consolidated financial statements in reference to which the engagement report is issued, or any other work
product made available to you by our firm.

b.  A misrepresentation by a member of your management or the board of directors.

Limitation of Liability

Our aggregate liability for all claims, losses, liabilities and damages in connection with this Engagement, whether as
a result of breach of contract, tort (including negligence), or otherwise, regardless of the theory of liability, is limited
to the amount of our fees for this engagement. Our liability shall be several and not joint and several. We shall only
be liable for our proportionate share of any loss or damage, based on our contribution relative to the others’
contributions and only if your claim is commenced within 24 months or less of the date Grand Erie District School
Board should have been aware of the potential claim. In addition, we will not be liable in any event for consequential,
incidental, indirect, punitive, exemplary, aggravated or special damages, including any amount for loss of profit, data
or goodwill, whether or not the likelihood of such loss or damage was contemplated.

Time Frames

We will use all reasonable efforts to complete the Engagement as described in this letter within the agreed upon
time frames.

However, we shall not be liable for failures or delays in performance that arise from causes beyond our reasonable
control, including any delays in the performance by Grand Erie District School Board of its obligations.

Fees at Regular Billing Rate 

Our professional fees will be based on our regular billing rates, plus direct out-of-pocket expenses and applicable
HST, and are due when rendered.  Fees for any additional services will be established separately.

Billing

Our fees and costs will be billed monthly and are payable upon receipt. Invoices unpaid 30 days past the billing date
may be deemed delinquent and are subject to an interest charge of 1.50% per month. We reserve the right to
suspend our services or to withdraw from this Engagement in the event that any of our invoices are deemed
delinquent. In the event that any collection action is required to collect unpaid balances due to us, you agree to
reimburse us for our costs of collection, including lawyers' fees.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 57 of 80



Costs of Responding to Government or Legal Processes

In the event we are required to respond to a subpoena, court order, government agency or other legal process for
the production of documents and/or testimony relative to information we obtained and/or prepared during the course
of this Engagement, you agree to compensate us at our normal hourly rates for the time we expend in connection
with such response and to reimburse us for all of our out-of-pocket costs (including applicable HST) incurred.

Termination

Management acknowledges and understands that failure to fulfill its obligations as set out in this engagement letter
will result, upon written notice, in the termination of the Engagement.

Either party may terminate this agreement for any reason upon providing written notice to the other party not less
than 30 calendar days before the effective date of termination. If early termination takes place, Grand Erie District
School Board shall be responsible for all time and expenses incurred up to the termination date.

If we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form, or have not formed, an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, we may withdraw from the audit before issuing an auditor's report, or we may disclaim an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. If this occurs, we will communicate the reasons and provide
details.

Survival of Terms

This engagement letter will continue in force for subsequent audits unless terminated by either party by written
notice prior to the commencement of the subsequent audit.

Consequential Loss

Our firm and its partners, officers or employees will not be responsible for any consequential loss, injury or damages
suffered by the client including but not limited to loss of use, earnings and business interruption, or the unauthorized
distribution of any confidential document or report prepared by or on behalf of our firm, including the partners,
officers or employees of the accounting firm for the exclusive use of the client.

Relevant Parties

The client will not assert any claim for damages against our firm unless the client has concurrently or previously
asserted a claim against all other persons who might reasonably be liable in relation to that claim. Any release,
waiver, or covenant to otherwise not sue or enforce any remedy known to law given by the client to a third party shall
be deemed to apply in favour of our firm.

Third Parties

The financial documents are prepared solely for the use of the client with whom we have entered into a contract and
there are no representations of any kind made by us to any party with whom we have not entered into a written
contract.

Indemnity for Fees

For value received by the Indemnifier directly or indirectly as shareholder or director of the board for whom services
are provided, the Indemnifier agrees with our firm that at all times the Indemnifier shall promptly indemnify our firm
for all amounts due by the board in the event of the board failing to pay any invoice when due by the board. This
indemnity is absolute and unconditional and the Indemnifier shall not be released or discharged by any indulgence
extended to the board by our firm.

Conclusion

This engagement letter includes the relevant terms that will govern the Engagement for which it has been prepared.
The terms of this letter supersede any prior oral or written representations or commitments by or between the
parties. Any material changes or additions to the terms set forth in this letter will only become effective if evidenced
by a written amendment to this letter, signed by all of the parties.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 58 of 80



If you have any questions about the contents of this letter, please raise them with us. If the services outlined are in
accordance with your requirements, and if the above terms are acceptable to you, please sign the attached copy of
this letter in the space provided and return it to us. 

We appreciate the opportunity of continuing to be of service to your board.

Yours truly,

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants

Matt McInally, CPA, CA
Partner

Acknowledged and agreed to on behalf of Grand Erie District School Board by:

Mr. Rafal Wyszynski, Superintendent
of Business & Treasurer

June 12, 2025
Date signed

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 59 of 80



Appendix A - Expected Form of Report

 
To the Board of Trustees of Grand Erie District School Board 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand Erie District School Board (the "board"),
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at August 31, 2025, and the
consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus, changes in net debt, and cash flow for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies (hereinafter referred to as the financial statements).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the board as at August 31, 2025, and the consolidated results of its
operations and  consolidated cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with the basis of accounting
described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the board in accordance with
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which describes
the basis of accounting used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements and the
significant differences between such basis of accounting and Canadian public sector accounting
standards. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the board's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the board or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the board's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 60 of 80



Appendix A (continued)

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the board’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the board’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the board to cease
to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Board to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 61 of 80



June 12, 2025  
Confidential

Grand Erie District School Board
349 Erie Avenue
Brantford Ontario  N3T 5V3

Attention: Audit Committee Members

We are writing this letter in connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ending
August 31, 2025.

Our purpose in writing is to ensure effective two-way communication between us in our role as auditors and
yourselves with the role of overseeing the financial reporting process. In this letter we will:

a)  Address our responsibilities as independent auditors and provide information about the planned scope and
timing of our audit.

b)  Request a response to some audit questions and any additional information you may have that could be
relevant to our audit.

Auditor Responsibilities

The respective responsibilities of ourselves and of management in relation to the audit of consolidated financial
statements are set out in the engagement letter that was signed by management on June 12, 2025. This
engagement letter is attached as an appendix to this letter.

Planned Scope and Timing of Our Audit

Our objective as auditors is to express an opinion on whether the consolidated financial statements are prepared, in
all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In developing our audit plan, we worked with management to understand the nature of Grand Erie District School
Board and to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. Our audit plan has been designed to focus on the identified areas of risk.

Materiality

For the current year, we have determined an overall materiality amount of $4,800,000. We have also considered
misstatements that could be material in qualitative financial statement disclosures. Materiality will be used to:

a.  Plan and perform the audit; and,

b.  Evaluate the effects of identified and uncorrected misstatements on the audit procedures performed as well as
on the consolidated financial statements.

The materiality amount will be reassessed prior to the start and before the end of the engagement to ensure it
remains appropriate.

Significant Changes During Period

The significant changes that we addressed in planning the audit for the current year are set out below:

a.  board operations and personnel;

b.  Accounting and control systems; and 

c.  Accounting and auditing standards.
Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP

85 Robinson Street, Simcoe, ON N3Y 1W7     T: 519.426.1606

SIMCOE  BRANTFORD   HAGERSVILLE

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 62 of 80



Internal Control

To help identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements, we obtain an
understanding of internal control relevant to the audit. This understanding is used in the design of appropriate audit
procedures. It is not used for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. Should
we identify any significant deficiencies in the internal control and accounting systems, we will communicate them to
you in our audit findings letter.

Significant Risks

In planning our audit, we identify significant financial reporting risks that, by their nature, require special audit
consideration. The significant risks we have identified and our proposed audit response is outlined below:

Description of each significant risk Proposed Audit Response

Provincial grants - students needs (Grants based on
enrollment) (Significant Risk)

We performed a walkthrough of management’s process
for recognizing revenue and performed the design and
implementation of controls on the revenue recognition
system.

We will also performed test of controls on enrollment by
selecting schools and then selecting samples of
students, and testing that the enrolment is recorded
accurately and completely.

Substantive testing of revenues, including the consistent
application of accounting policies and perform testing of
samples in detail.

Substantive Analytical procedures 

 Management override of controls - Assurance
standards include the presumption of a significant risk
of management override of controls. (Significant Risk)

We will engage in periodic fraud discussions with certain
members of management and others, including the Audit
Committee. 

We will evaluate the business rationale for any significant
and/or unusual transactions. We will evaluate the board’s
fraud risk assessment and test the design and
implementation of entity-level internal controls and
internal controls over the financial reporting and closing
process, including journal entries. We will test journal
entries that exhibit characteristics of possible
management override of controls.

We will consider the potential for bias in judgments and
estimates, including performing retrospective analysis of
significant accounting estimates. Further we will review
of related-party transactions.

Retirement and other future benefits (High Risk) Substantive procedures 

Use of Actuary to support valuation of benefits. 

Transportation Expenses (High Risk) Substantive procedures, analytical procedures and test
of control.

Payroll Expenses (High Risk) Analytical procedures, and dual purpose tests of control
and details.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 63 of 80



Significant Risks (continued)

If there are specific areas that warrant our particular attention during the audit or where you would like us to
undertake some additional procedures, please let us know.

Uncorrected Misstatements

Where we identify uncorrected misstatements during our audit, we will communicate them to management and
request that they be corrected. If not corrected by management, we will then request that you correct them. If not
corrected by you, we will also communicate the effect that they may have individually, or in aggregate, on our audit
opinion.

Timing

The proposed timing of our audit (as discussed with management) is as follows:

Action Planned Date

Planning meeting with audit committee September 11, 2025

Start of audit field work August 11, 2025

End of audit field work October 24, 2025

Present audit findings letter to audit committee November 13, 2025

Engagement Team

Our engagement team for this audit will consist of the following personnel:

Name Role Contact Details

 Matt McInally Partner  mattmcinally@mrrca.com

 Jeff Gilbert Manager  jeffgilbert@mrrca.com

 Matthew Kohls Staff Accountant  matthewkohls@mrrca.com

Audit Findings

At the conclusion of our audit, we will prepare an audit findings letter to assist you with your review of the
consolidated financial statements. This letter will include our views and comments on matters such as:

a.  Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management;

b.  Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit;

c.  Qualitative aspects of the entity’s accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting estimates and
financial statement disclosures;

d.  Uncorrected misstatements; and

e.  Any other audit matters of governance interest.

Audit Questions and Requests

Fraud 

To help us in identifying and responding to the risks of fraud within the board, we would appreciate your responses
to the following questions:

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 64 of 80



Audit Questions and Requests (continued)

Fraud  (continued)

  1. What oversight, if any, do you provide over management’s processes for identifying and responding to fraud
risks? Management’s processes could include policies, procedures, programs or controls that serve to prevent,
detect and deter fraud. 

  2. Do you have any knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud, including misappropriation of assets or
manipulation of the consolidated financial statements, affecting the entity? If so, please provide details and how
the fraud or allegations of fraud were addressed. 

Other Matters

Would you please bring to our attention any significant matters or financial reporting risks, of which you are aware,
that may not have been specifically addressed in our proposed audit plan. This could include such matters as future
plans, contingencies, events, decisions, non-compliance with laws and regulations, potential litigation, specific
transactions (such as with related parties or outside of the normal course of business) and any additional sources of
audit evidence that might be available.

Fees

Our estimated audit engagement fee of $65,500, for the year ending August 31, 2025, is based on the nature,
extent and timing of our planned audit procedures as described above. 

We recognize your significant role in the oversight of the audit and would welcome any observations on our audit
plan.

This letter was prepared for the sole use of those charged with governance of Grand Erie District School Board to
carry out and discharge their responsibilities. The content should not be disclosed to any third party without our prior
written consent, and we assume no responsibility to any other person.

Yours truly,

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants

Matt McInally, CPA, CA
Partner

Encl.

Millard, Rouse & Rosebrugh LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 65 of 80



������� ���	
�������������������������
��� � �

�

���� � ��������� !"#�$�%&'�('$�()"!*#�"��+�,-.*�#)���/�0!*"!#�"1�#��#&!�2��"-�34�5��� ��+�6�71891�8:)$�0.;!")�#!�-!�#��+�2.8)�!88�/�<"!�8."!"�4��� � =>�?@A�B@C@DEFG@HA�IJIK�IL�BM����� �.�!�N$�OPOQ�� � ��4@REGG@H�@��5EASEH��T�U!-� 1�VVVVVVVVVVVVVVV�0!*��-!-� 1�VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVV�<W�<�#&!�OPOQXOY�Z;!"�#)�[� .-[!#��+�\]OQ$]̂Q$Y]Q� !�+�"_�"-!-�#��#&!��.�!�Ô$�OPOQ��![.6�"�2��"-�̀ !!#)�[�+�"��;;"�U�6'��4@REGG@H�@��5EASEH��T�U!-� 1�VVVVVVVVVVVVVVV�0!*��-!-� 1�VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVV�<W�<�#&!�OPOQXOY�a�;)#�6� .-[!#��+�\Ob$cYQ$cYP� !�+�"_�"-!-�#��#&!��.�!�Ô$�OPOQ��![.6�"�2��"-�̀ !!#)�[�+�"��;;"�U�6'��=dRe?fE>H��a�"!�,-.*�#)���g.�-)�[�ha�"!�,-i�)8�#&!�T)�)8#"1��+�,-.*�#)��j8�hT)�)8#"1i�;")̀ �"1�+.�-)�[�`!*&��)8̀ �+�"�8*&��6� ��"-8�)��Z�#�")�'�<&!�+.�-)�[�̀ �-!6�#�:!8�)�#��*��8)-!"�#)���#&!�.�)k.!�*)"*.̀ 8#��*!8��+�8#.-!�#8$�8*&��68���-�8*&��6� ��"-8$�"!8.6#)�[�)��!�*&�8*&��6� ��"-�[!�!"�#)�[�-)++!"!�#�+.�-)�[��̀ �.�#8� �8!-����#&!)"�;�"#)*.6�"�+�*#�"8�)����_�1�#&�#�)8�̀ !��#�#��;"�U)-!�+�"����!k.)#� 6!�!-.*�#)���+�"��66�8#.-!�#8��*"�88�#&!�;"�U)�*!'�a�"!�,-�)8�)�#!�-!-�#�l�m� Z;!"�#!�)����+�)"���-����X-)8*")̀ )��#�"1�̀ ���!"��*"�88��66�+�."�8*&��6� ��"-�818#!̀ 8$�m� %"�#!*#�+.�-)�[�+�"�*!"#�)��;")�")#)!8$�)�*6.-)�[�8;!*)�6�!-.*�#)��$�n�-)[!��.8�!-.*�#)��$���-�8#.-!�#�̀ !�#�6�&!�6#&$�m� �66�_�8*&��6� ��"-8�8�̀ !�+6!o) )6)#1�#��-!*)-!�&�_�+.�-8�_)66� !��66�*�#!-�#��!�*&�8*&��6���-�;"�["�̀ � �8!-����6�*�6��!!-$��m� %"�̀ �#!�8*&��6� ��"-��**�.�#� )6)#1� 1�!�8.")�[�#&�#�8*&��6� ��"-8�"!;�"#�*��8)8#!�#61���-�;. 6)*61����&�_�#&!1�8;!�-�#&!�+.�-)�[�#&!1�"!*!)U!'��<&!�T)�)8#"1�)8�)�*"!�8)�[�a�"!�,-.*�#)���g.�-)�[�+�"�#&!�OPOQXOY�1!�"� 1�\NQ̂'Q�̀ )66)��$��"�'̂̂p$�*�̀ ;�"!-�#��OPO]XOQ'�<�[!#&!"�_)#&��#&!"�)�U!8#̀ !�#8$�#&)8�"!;"!8!�#8�\̂P'q� )66)���)��#�#�6��;!"�#)�[�!-.*�#)���+.�-)�[�+�"�#&!�OPOQXOY�8*&��6�1!�"'�<&)8�1!�"r8��66�*�#)���)�*6.-!8�#�"[!#!-�)�U!8#̀ !�#8�+�"�6� �."X"!6�#!-�*&��[!8$�#"��8;�"#�#)��$���-�)�#!"��6��.-)#'��s"��-�,")!�()8#")*#�0*&��6�2��"-r8�hs"��-�,")!r8i�0!�)�"��-̀ )�)8#"�#)���&�8����619!-�#&!�a�"!�,-��66�*�#)��8���-�#&!��!8;��8)U!�,-.*�#)���%"�["�̀ 8�h�,%8i$�"!U)!_!-� �#&�T)�)8#"1���-�s"��-�,")!�;")�")#)!8$�*��8)-!"!-�#&!����.�6�;. 6)*�*��8.6#�#)���8."U!1$��88!88!-�!�"�6̀ !�#�;"�t!*#)��8$�!8#� 6)8&!-�;"!6)̀ )��"1�8#�++)�[�6!U!68$���-�*��8)-!"!-�U�")�.8�!o;!�8!�̀ �-!68�#���"")U!��#��� �6��*!-� .-[!#'��8�#&!�"!6!�8!��+�#&!�OPOQuOY�a�"!�,-.*�#)���+.�-)�[�̀ �-!6�-)-���#��**."�.�#)6�6�#!�T�1$�0!�)�"��-̀ )�)8#"�#)���-!U!6�;!-�8!U!"�6��88.̀ ;#)��8�#��;"��*#)U!61��88!88�!o;!�8!�6!U!68$��)̀ )�[�#��̀ �)�#�)����*�8#�8#".*#."!�8)̀ )6�"�#��OPO]uOQ$��8�!�"�6̀ !�#$�_&)6!�)�*"!�8)�[$�)8�!o;!*#!-�#��"!̀ �)��"!6�#)U!61�*�̀ ;�"� 6!�#��#&!�;"!U)�.8�1!�"'��s"��-�,")!�#�:!8�)�#��*��8)-!"�#)���̀ ��1�+�*#�"8�_&!��-!#!"̀ )�)�[�_&)*&�!o;!�-)#."!8�.6#)̀ �#!61� !*�̀ !�;"!8!�#!-�#��#&!�2��"-��+�<".8#!!8�+�"��;;"�U�6'�n����#)*);�#)����+�#&!� .-[!#�-!U!6�;̀ !�#�;"�*!88�#&)8�1!�"$�0!�)�"��-̀ )�)8#"�#)���6�.�*&!-����)�+�"̀ �#)U!$�;. 6)*Xvwxyxz{�|}~~w��{{��{{�wx� ��x{�������� �y�{����}����

F-1-a

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 66 of 80

lkay
Text Box

lkay
Text Box



����������	
��	�	���	�
��������� � ���	���

�

��������� �!"�#!�"�$��$��%&�� �'&�!(#�)!�#�"!�"$�*��*+��*"����$&,�"�$����$�"�%&�� �'&�!(#��� �!"�-&$�!##.�"�,!+��!#.��#�)!++��#��� �!"�&!-$&"#��&$,�-&�$&�/!�&#0���1*�#��,-$&"��"����$&,�"�$�������!��$�� �*!&!0���1*!�2324526�7� �!"�*�#��!!���+���! �"$�#�--$&"�"*!�8�+"�59!�&�:"&�"!����;+���<89:;=��� ���>!#",!�"#�!,�!  ! ����"*!��� �!"��$�"���!�"$�#�--$&"�%&�� �'&�!(#��$++!�"�>!�-&�$&�"�!#��#�)!++��#�"*!��$�+#�)�"*���!��*�$��"*!�?����+�@!�&������� �A-!&�"����;+��#0���A"*!&����"$&#�"*�"�&!B��&! ��  �"�$��+��$�#� !&�"�$��)!&!C�D� E$&!�' ��!�!��"��!��*,�&F#� $��$"�-&$>� !�$��#!"#�"$��$>!&�,!�"5�,-$#! ����&!�#!#�"$�#"�"�"$&/��!�!��"#�#��*��#�"*!�E��� ����;!�#�$��;+���<E;;=��� �',-+$/,!�"�G�#�&���!�<'G=0�D� 1*!��$�5#�+�&/��!��*,�&F#�-&$>� ! ����E$&!�' �<"!�*�$+$�/.�"!H"�$$F#.�,�"!&��+#=�*�>!��$"����&!�#! .� !#-�"!��$�"���! ����+�"�$��&/�-&!##�&!#� &�>�����-�"*!��$#"#�$���$$ #��� �#!&>��!#0��I�J	��������	
�KL�ML�M
N�D� ?�OP�-!&�*$�&����&!�#!����! ���"�$��)$&F!&�#�+�&�!#0�1*�#����&!�#!��#��+#$��!�����--+�! �"$��$�5���$���$�5,����!,!�"�#�+�&/��!��*,�&F#0��D� ?�204Q����&!�#!����"!��*!&.�;&����-�+��� �R��!5;&����-�+�#�+�&�!#0�1*�#����&!�#!��#��+#$��!�����--+�! �"$�,����!&��+�#"������� ! �"*&$��*�"*!�:�*$$+�A-!&�"�$�#�?++$��"�$�.��#�)!++��#��$�5!H!��"�>!#���� ! �"*&$��*�"*!�7$�& 57�#! �:"�������?++$��"�$�0�1*�#��#��+#$�"*!�#!�$� �/!�&�$��"*!��!)�;&����-�+��� �R��!5;&����-�+�#�+�&/��&� ��� ��++$)���!�#"&��"�&!0�D� ',-+$/!!�@��!��� �S!�+"*�1&�#"��!�!��"#���� �����,$��"#�*�>!��!!��� T�#"! �"$�&!�+!�"�"*!�$�"�$,!�$��"*!�2322526��$++!�"�>!���&!!,!�"#��$&��++�!,-+$/!!��&$�-#0�D� 1*!�8���#"&/�*�#��- �"! ��!��*,�&F#��$&�"*!�#!�$� �/!�&�$������>!5/!�&�-*�#!5����$&�232P�:"�"�#"��#�E��� ���!�#�#� �"�0��D� 1*!�8���#"&/��#�-&$>� ������2Q��$#"��- �"!�"$�"*!��$�5#"����-$&"�$��$��"*!�:�*$$+�A-!&�"�$�#�?++$��"�$���!��*,�&F����"*!�:�*$$+�U���+�"�!#�U�� �"$��##�#"�#�*$$+��$�& #����,��������"*!����&!�#!#�����$,,$ �"/�-&��!#0�D� 1*!�$�+��!�+!�&������� ���5-!&#$���� ��&! �"�+$� ��!��*,�&F#��&!��!�����- �"! �$��"$�"*!��##�,-"�$��$��"*!�-&$-$&"�$��$��#!�$� �&/�#"� !�"#�"�F����$�!�$�+��!��&! �"� �&����"*!�&!��+�&�#�*$$+� �/.�!B��>�+!�"�"$�P6Q0�D� 1*!�:�--$&"#��$&�:"� !�"#�U�� �<::U=��#��$�"��������$&�"*!�2324526�#�*$$+�/!�&0���A��8�/�2V.�2324.�"*!�8���#"&/�&!+!�#! �"*!�E$&!�' 0�U�����!�E$,,�""!!�,!!"���#�)!&!�*!+ ����U!�&��&/��� �8�/�"$��- �"!�"*!�7$�& �$��1&�#"!!#�$��"*!�-&$�&!##�$���� �!"� !>!+$-,!�"��� �"$�#*�&!���#��*"#��&$,�"*!��$�#�+"�"�$��-&$�!##0�1*!#!�,!!"���#�-&$>� ! �"&��#-�&!��/�$����������+�-+��������� �*��*+��*"! �*$)���-�"��&$,��++� !-�&",!�"#���&$##�"*!� �#"&��"�)�#��!�������$&-$&�"! 0�%&�� �'&�!��+#$��$�#�+"! �)�"*��++�#"�F!*$+ !&#�"*&$��*����� �!"�#�&>!/�)*��*�-&$>� ! ����$--$&"���"/��$&�#"� !�"#.�#"���.�-�&!�"#W��&!��>!&#��� �-��+���#"�F!*$+ !&#�"$�-&$>� !��!! ���F�$��"*!��� �!"�-&$�!##��#�)!++��#�)*��*��&!�#�$���� �!"�&!B��&! ��  �"�$��+���>!#",!�"0��1*�#��!! ���F�)�#���"!� ! �"$�-&$>� !���� ���!�"$�:!��$&�? ,���#"&�"�$��$��"*!� �&!�"�$��$����>!#",!�"#��$&�2324X260�A�&��$�#�+"�"�$��-+�/#����&�"���+�&$+!����#*�-����$�&�-�"*��$&)�& ��/�$��!&����-!&#-!�"�>!#�"*�"�&!�+!�"�"*!��!! #��� �>�+�!#�$��$�&��$,,���"�!#0�G�-�"��#���&!��++/�)!��*! ��+$��#� !��++$��"�$�#.�+!��#+�"�>!�&!B��&!,!�"#.��� �#/#"!,�-&�$&�"�!#�"$�!�#�&!�"*�"� !��#�$�#�#�--$&"�"*!�-�++�&#�)�"*���$�&�89:;0�1*�#��$++��$&�"�>!��� �"&��#-�&!�"��--&$��*�!���+!#�%&�� �'&�!�"$���+��++��"#��$>!&����!�&!#-$�#���+�"�!#�)*�+!�#�--$&"����"*!� !>!+$-,!�"�$������+���! ��� ���#��++/�&!#-$�#��+!��� �!"0���� �YZ[\[]̂�_̀ aaZbb̂ �̂c^̂bZ[d ef[̂ �gh�ijik l\d̂ �mn�̀o�ik
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 67 of 80

lkay
Text Box



����������	
��	�	���	�
��������� � ���	���

�

�����
��
�����	
�����
	���� �����	�
��� !"�#�$%&'�%!�()*%!+� ! ),'$'�$!"$- +%'�'.'+ $!%"�/�(0+1� -�(''�2(+1�+1%�%)%*%!+ �,� !"�'%-(!" �,�3 !%)'4� '�$)).'+� +%"�$!�+1%�+ 2)%�2%)(05�� ���6���� �������� � �7�����8��9������	�
���
:��
	����
:��
	��;<���	�;<���	�=>?��	�	�
��8�@��� AB4BCC� ��D���� AEF� CGHI�7	J�����8�@��� ��K4CCC� ��LD���� �HC� CGKI�M�
��@��� EN4BCC� �LD�L�� AKF� CGNI�OPQRS�TUV�WRXWRYRZQY�T[RW\]R�U\̂_̀�VZWP_aRZQ���� b	�	��	�c33%!"$d�c�3�(e$"%'� �3�%)$*$! �,�-(*3 �$'(!�(f��� !"�#�$%&'�+(+ )��%e%!.%'�f(��ECEFgEH�01%!�-(*3 �%"�+(�+1%�#'+$* +%'�h."/%+� 33�(e%"�2,�+1%�h( �"�(f�i�.'+%%'�f(��ECEjgEFG��ke%� ))4��� !"�#�$%l'�(3%� +$!/� ))(- +$(!�f(��ECEFgEH�$'�3�(m%-+%"�+(�2%�njEF�*$))$(!4� �nEKGA�*$))$(!�o(��NGAIp�$!-�% '%�(e%��ECEjgEFG��� !"�#�$%l'�%!�()*%!+�1 '�$!-�% '%"�')$/1+),�(e%��+1%�3�$(��,% �l'�2."/%+�)% "$!/�+(�*("%'+�$!-�% '%'� -�(''�* !,�q(�%�#"� ))(- +$(!'G�r(0%e%�4�+1%�* m(�$+,�(f�+1%�$!-�% '%'� �%� ++�$2.+%"�+(�' ) �,�2%!-1* �s� "m.'+*%!+'�$!+�(".-%"�2,�+1%�t$!$'+�,4�01$-1�0%�%�-(!f$�*%"�+1�(./1�-())%-+$e%� /�%%*%!+'�0$+1�2(+1�.!$(!$u%"� !"�!(!g.!$(!$u%"�%*3)(,%%�/�(.3'G�v�i1%�f())(0$!/�q(�%�#"�/� !+'�1 "�'$/!$f$- !+�$!-�% '%'�01%!�-(*3 �%"�+(�+1%�ECEjgEF�2."/%+5�w� q) ''�((*�x+ ff$!/�y.!"� � znEjGB*�w� {% �!$!/�|%'(.�-%'�y.!"� � znFGH*�w� x3%-$ )�#".- +$(!�y.!"� � znjGH*�w� x-1(()�y -$)$+$%'�y.!"� � znAGj*�w� x+."%!+�i� !'3(�+ +$(!�y.!"� znAGA*�w� x-1(()�h( �"�c"*$!�y.!"�� znCGF*�v�i1%�x+."%!+�i� !'3(�+ +$(!�y.!"�$!-�% '%�$'�%'3%-$ )),�$*3(�+ !+� '�+1%�f.!"$!/�1 '�'$/!$f$- !+),�-)('%"�+1%�"%f$-$+�0$+1$!�+1$'�%!e%)(3%G�y(��+1%�ECEjgEF�'-1(()�,% �4�+1%�+� !'3(�+ +$(!�%!e%)(3%�0 '�.!"%�gf.!"%"�2,�nAG}F�*$))$(!~�+1$'�1 '�!(0�2%%!��%".-%"�+(� �"%f$-$+�(f�nAB}4CCCG�v��!� ""$+$(!4�+1%�|#�'�+(+ ))$!/�njGA�*$))$(!�1 e%�2%%!� ))(- +%"�+(��� !"�#�$%�f(��ECEFgEHG�y$/.�%�A�(!�+1%�!%d+�3 /%�'.** �$u%'�+1%'%�/� !+'� !"�-(*3 �%'�+1%*� / $!'+�ECEjgEFG�v�c!!. )),4�+1%�q(**.!$+,��'%�(f�x-1(()�| +%'� �%� 33�(e%"�2,�+1%�h( �"�(f�i�.'+%%'G�i1%'%� �%�!(0�$!-)."%"� '�3 �+�(f�+1%�2."/%+� 33�(e )�3�(-%''G�|%f%��+(�+1%�+ 2)%�(f�� +%'�$!�c33%!"$d�hG����� 7
�99:���x+ ff$!/�-('+'�-(!+$!.%�+(��%3�%'%!+�+1%�1$/1%'+�$!e%'+*%!+�$!��� !"�#�$%l'�(3%� +$!/�2."/%+G�i1%�ECEFgEH�2."/%+�$'�3�(3('$!/� !� ""$+$(! )�$!e%'+*%!+�(f�A}GB�y.))gi$*%�#�.$e )%!+�oyi#p�3('$+$(!'� -�(''��� !"�#�$%�(e%��+1%� 33�(e%"�ECEjgEF�h."/%+G�kf�+1%'%�A}GB�yi#�3('$+$(!'4�AEGB�o(��B}Ip� �%�"$�%-+�$!e%'+*%!+'�$!+(�-) ''�((*�'+ ffG�c33%!"$d�q�3�(e$"%'� �'.** �,�(f�+1%�-1 !/%'�+(�yi#� '�-(*3 �%"�+(�ECEjgEFG�x(*%�(f�+1%�!%+�!%0�3('$+$(!'� �%�1$/1)$/1+%"� '�f())(0'5�v�����#".- +$(! )�c''$'+ !+'�v�����# �),�q1$)"1(("�#".- +(�'�v�����#)%*%!+ �,� !"�x%-(!" �,�i% -1$!/��('$+$(!'�v�����q.'+("$ )�x%�e$-%'��('$+$(!'�v�����q1$)"� !"��(.+1��(�s%�'�v�����x-1(()�c"*$!$'+� +(��v�����c""$+$(! )�x.33(�+�f(��t.)+$g{$!/. )�{% �!%�'�������������������������� ������������ �������������
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 68 of 80

lkay
Text Box



����������	
��	�	���	�
��������� � ���	���

�

��������� �!�"#$%"�&��'(�)*+�$%�,�$��*-"�� .� /0��0102��
�����/
�110���3��	4
�	�
4�5�6789:;;;�<=>�?@@ABA=C?D�EFGG=>B�<=>�EFGGDH�BI?JKI>E:�I@FJ?BA=C?D�?EEAEB?CBE:�?C@�I?>DH�JKAD@K==@�I@FJ?B=>E�5�6L;;:;;;�<=>�EFGG=>B�<=>�BKI�<AC?D�BK>II�HI?>E�=<�?�MNOHI?>�ICI>PH�GI><=>Q?CJI�J=CB>?JB:�=<<EIB�ICBA>IDH�RH�E?SACPE�R>=FPKB�=C�RH�>I@FJBA=CE�AC�J?>R=C�B?T?BA=CU�5�6VV;:;;;�<=>�ACJ>I?EI@�<?JADABH�=GI>?BACP�J=EBE�WEC=X:�X?EBI�>IQ=S?D:�?C@�JFEB=@A?D�EFGGDAIEY�?E�XIDD�?E�CIX�SIKAJDIE�B=�>IGD?JI�?C�?PACP�<DIIBU�5�6V;;:;;;�<=>�AC<D?BA=C?>H�J=EBE�XABK�>IEGIJB�B=�Z[�\=<BX?>I�]AJICEIE:�=<<EIB�RH�?�@I<I>>?D�=C�̂>?C@�_>AÌE�@ISAJI�G>=JF>IQICB�EB>?BIPH�B=�RIBBI>�?DAPC�BIJKC=D=PH�CII@E�XABK�FEI>EU�5�6ab:;;;�<=>�ACJ>I?EI@�ACEF>?CJI�Wc>=GI>BH:�]A?RADABH�?C@�dIKAJDIY�5�6N;:;;;�<=>�>IE=F>JIE�<=>�\GIJA?DAeI@�\I>SAJIE�5�697:;;;�?@@ABA=C?D�ACSIEBQICB�ACB=�EJK==D�RF@PIB�?DD=J?BA=CE�5�6b;:;;;�<=>�?@@ABA=C?D�G>=<IEEA=C?D�@ISID=GQICB�<=>�_@FJ?BA=C?D�fEEAEB?CBE��� fGGIC@AT�g�G>=SA@IE�?�EFQQ?>H�=<�BKI�HI?>O=SI>OHI?>�JK?CPIE�B=�̂ >?C@�_>AIhE�ITGIC@ABF>IEU�� .� ����	
�/�i�	j�gF>ACP�BKI�RF@PIB�@ISID=GQICB�G>=JIEE:�̂>?C@�_>AI�>IDI?EI@�ABE�?CCF?D�RF@PIB�EF>SIHU�[KI�M;MNOM7�EF>SIH�X?E�=GIC�<>=Q�k?>JK�98:�M;MN�B=�fG>AD�b:�M;MNU�ZC�B=B?D:�BKI>I�XI>I�a8b�>IEG=CEIE�B=�BKI�EF>SIHU���\F>SIH�>IEG=C@ICBE�XI>I�?ElI@�B=�>?Cl�BKIA>�B=G�N�?>I?E�BKIH�RIDAISI�EK=FD@�>IJIASI�P>I?BI>�<AC?CJA?D�EFGG=>B�XABKAC�BKI�M;MNOM7�RF@PIBU�[KI�B=G�N�?>I?E�ACJDF@I@m�5�EGIJA?DAeI@�EI>SAJIE�5�BIJKC=D=PH��5�<?JADABAIE�FGP>?@IE��5�DABI>?JH�>IE=F>JIE�?C@�G>=<IEEA=C?D�@ISID=GQICB�5�EJK==D�JFDBF>I�?C@�XIDDORIACP�EFGG=>BE��

n	4���40�	����2�
0����i��i��4 ������� �������o==GI>?BASI�_@FJ?BA=C�\FGG=>BE�<=>�\BF@ICBE�XABK�gAE?RADABAIE�cAD=B O�������������������� 7a:;;;��������������o>ABAJ?D�cKHEAJ?D�\IJF>ABH�ZC<>?EB>FJBF>I� 9Va:M;;������������� 9Va:M;;�������������gIOEB>I?QACP�ZQGDIQICB?BA=C�\FGG=>BE��� Va:L;;�������������� O��������������������_?>DH�oKAD@K==@�_@FJ?B=>�cg�WpY Va:;NN��������������� O��������������������_?>DH�qI?@ACP�_CK?CJIQICBEm�qI?@ACP�\J>IICACP�[==DE� 9LN:M;;������������� 9LN:M;;�������������_@FJ?BA=C�\B?<<�B=�\FGG=>B�qI?@ACP�ZCBI>SICBA=CE� aaL:a;;������������ 9:;8;:N;;���������_CB>IG>ICIF>EKAG�_@FJ?BA=C�cAD=B�c>=rIJBE� V;:;;;������������� V;:;;;�������������_TGI>AICBA?D�c>=<IEEA=C?D�]I?>CACP�<=>�̂FA@?CJI�[I?JKI>Oo=FCEIDD=>E� b7:N;;�������������� b7:N;;��������������>̂?@I�9;�oASAJE�B=�]IPAED?BF>I��WpY M8:Va;�������������� O��������������������sI?DBK�qIE=F>JIE:�[>?ACACP�?C@�\FGG=>BE� 9N:8;;��������������� 9N:8;;���������������ZC@APIC=FE�̂>?@F?BA=C�o=?JK�c>=P>?Q� M8M:8;;������������ M8M:8;;������������]I?>C�?C@�t=>l�uF>E?>H� M9:;;;��������������� M9:;;;���������������]AJICJIE�?C@�\FGG=>BE�<=>�qI?@ACP�c>=P>?QE�?C@�ZCBI>SICBA=CE� 9L;:8;;������������ 9LM:M;;�������������k?BK�fJKAISIQICB�fJBA=C�cD?Cm�u=?>@�k?BK�]I?@E� 977:7;;������������� 977:7;;�������������k?BK�fJKAISIQICB�fJBA=C�cD?Cm�gAPAB?D�k?BK�[==DE M;;:9;;������������ M;;:L;;�����������k?BK�fJKAISIQICB�fJBA=C�cD?Cm�\JK==D�k?BK�v?JADAB?B=>E� a8L:M;;������������ 9:9M8:7;;����������kICB?D�sI?DBK�\B>?BIPH�\FGG=>BE�O�_QI>PACP�wII@E� 97:M;;��������������� 97:M;;���������������\lADDI@�[>?@IE�uF>E?>H�c>=P>?Q 9b:;;;�������������� 9b:;;;��������������\GIJA?D�_@FJ?BA=C�f@@ABA=C?D�xF?DA<AJ?BA=CE�WfxY�\FREA@H�<=>�_@FJ?B=>E� 9V:b;;��������������� 9V:8;;���������������\GIJA?D�_@FJ?BA=C�wII@E�[>?CEABA=C�w?SAP?B=>E� 99b:M;;������������� 99N:b;;�������������\FQQI>�]I?>CACP�<=>�\BF@ICBE�XABK�\GIJA?D�_@FJ?BA=C�wII@E� 9VN:b;;������������� 9V7:8;;�������������\FQQI>�kICB?D�sI?DBK�\FGG=>BE 987:M;;������������� M98:7;;�������������[>?CEG=>B?BA=C�y�\B?RADABH�\FGG=>BE�<=>�oKAD@>IC�?C@�z=FBK�AC�o?>I O�������������������� 9NN:N;;�������������{i�����i0	��04
i02
�/2|������i��}�
� ~�������������� ����������������((�(�*�+���$����%*��������!',��%%$�%)�-�%+

������������������������� ������������ ��������� ���
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 69 of 80

lkay
Text Box



����������	
��	�	���	�
��������� � ���	���

�

����������� �!"�#�!�"�$%�����$�� &�'($%()��� �!"('� �$*��$��(�(+*$%�,��'$�(+*$%�-  ( �$*� �.�!���+&�&!(+!(�(� �$/+*��!� &+*��*� 0�1*�!� &+* �2�3!$*��,!(�4 �(*"� �/�*��(*�5("��$��(�(+*$%�&�!/$*�*��5�%%6�(/��,��'$�(+*$%�-  ( �$*� ���/+* �!$�� �$�'%�$!�'+//(�/�*���+�(*'+!&+!$�(*�� �$7��+%��!�5����$'7�(*�+�3!$*��,!(�4 �5(*$*'($%���'( (+*6/$7(*�2�!�(*5+!'(*���!$* &$!�*'#�$*��$%(�*/�*��.(���'+//�*(�#�*��� 0��8� 9��:
:����;���
�<������(��/ � ��/(�����5+!�'+* (��!$�(+*�(*'%���=�>��!� ���������� �? ���-&&�*�(@�,A�>��&�!$��� '�++%�5$'(%(�(� �>�$��(�(+*$%� �&&+!� �5+!�B�,-C�?B'(�*'�2���'�*+%+�#2�,*�(*��!(*�2�-!� �$*��C$��A2�����-!� �?C� ('2�-!� 2�D!$/$A�>��E�(�#�$*��(*'%� (+*�>��!$�� ��E�(&/�*��>�$��%��(' �$*��$��%��('�&!+�!$/ �� 8� F��:
�������!$5��G$&(�$%�<������5+!�HIHJ6HK�( �$��$'����$ �-&&�*�(@�L0��8� M�
��N�B�*(+!�-�/(*( �!$�(+*�( �&%�$ ����+�&!� �*���!$5��!�"�*���$*���@&�*�(��!� �5+!�����HIHJOHK� '�++%�#�$!���$����/+* �!$���$��$%$*'���5(*$*'($%�&+ (�(+*0���( ��������'+*�(*�� ��+�$��!�  ��(��6&!(+!(�#� # ��/�*��� �.�(%��/$(*�$(*(*��$�5( '$%%#�!� &+* (�(%(�#�$&&!+$'�0��������"�%+&/�*��+5���( �#�$!4 ��������+''�!!���.(��(*�$�'+/&%�@�$*���"+%"(*��5!$/�.+!72� �$&����#�'+/&!�  ����(/�%(*� 2��'+*+/('�$*��&+%(�('$%��*'�!�$(*�#2�+*�+(*���*��!5�*�(*��+5�$� �*���( /�'+ � 2�(*'!�$ ���'#��! �'�!(�#�"�%*�!$�(%(�(� 2�$*���!+.(*����/$*� �!�%$�����+�$�(*��(*5!$ �!�'��!��.(��(*�5$'(%(�(� 2���'�*+%+�#2�$*�$�(*��5%���2�$*��$��� (!���+�/+��!*()��/$*#�!� +�!'� �$'!+  ������( �!('�0��D� &(������ �� (�*(5('$*��'�$%%�*�� 2�B�*(+!�-�/(*( �!$�(+*�( �&!+����+�&���5+!.$!������HIHJ6HK��������.�('��&!(+!(�()� ��(!�'��(*"� �/�*��(*�'%$  !++/ 0���( �'+//(�/�*��( �!�5%�'����(*�����$%%+'$�(+*�+5�$��(�(+*$%� �$55(*��$*���@&$*���� �&&+!� ���$��.(%%��*�$*'������%�$!*(*���*"(!+*/�*��$*��'+*�!(�����&+ (�("�%#�+�!� �$55�$*�� ����*� 0�����HIHJOHK��������!�&!� �*� �$�'$!�5�%�$*�� �!$���('��$%$*'�P�+*����$��$��!�  � �'�!!�*��&!�  �!� �.�(%��&+ (�(+*(*������ # ��/�5+!� � �$(*$�(%(�#0��QR�����R:	�S�
:�T	�R�������( �!�&+!�� �&&+!� �����C�%�(6U�$!�B�!$���('�V%$*2�$*��$%%�����(*�('$�+! �+5�W�$!*(*�2�X�%%6��(*��$*��<�%+*�(*�0�� Y� &�'�5�%%#� ��/(����2���Y$5$%�X# )#* 7(��B�&�!(*��*��*��+5�<� (*�  �Z��!�$ �!�!��
[\]̂ ]_̀�abcc\dd̀ �̀e`̀d\]f gh]̀ �ij�klkm n̂ f̀ �op�bq�km
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 70 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
���������������������������������	��
���������	�	��	�������	��	�����	��	���� ����!"#�����$%��� ��	�����&��������' ��� 	�����	���	��()*(+,-./01.2- (+*(3,-./01.2- 4����567821-2�9:27821-2;<����567821-2�9:27821-2;=��	��
������� =������������>>�� ������$=��'?@A�*�B28�BCD/E�FEEG71./G6 H)(I3J3��� H3HIHK)��� HKI)KK��� LMNOPQ16RC1R2�?E1--8GG0�@.1SS/6R�FEEG71./G6 +IH3T��� UIVVH��� (IHUH��� WXNLPQG71E�?/87C0-.1672-�@.1SS/6R�FEEG71./G6 V)IJU)��� VKIJ+U��� VIJKV��� LLNWP56Y/R26GC-�,YC71./G6�?E1--8GG0�@.1SS/6R (TU��� (V3��� (J��� LWNOP@CDDE2026.18Z�@.1SS/6R�FEEG71./G6 (I+3(��� (IU)U��� HK+��� [NXP&\&�]�=�� "̂�#��"��� �"�#_����� �_#̂����� àbcd]	����� ��	����	�������$]��'QeA�*�B28�BCD/E�FEEG71./G6 HJITUJ��� (TIVK+��� HIVT3��� fNgPQ16RC1R2�@CDDG8.-�16Y�QG71E�?/87C0-.1672- VIKTV��� VIJKT��� HUU��� WN[P56Y/R26GC-�,YC71./G6�@CDDG8.-�FEEG71./G6 (I+UV��� (IVUK��� 9HJ+;��� h[NfPij26.1E�k21E.l�16Y�m2EE62--�FEEG71./G6 HI(TH��� HI(3+��� 3)��� nNMP@.CY26.�@1S2.Z�16Y�m2EE*o2/6R�FEEG71./G6 3VV��� 3UK��� )+��� [NLP?G6./6C/6R�,YC71./G6�16Y�p.l28�B8GR810- (I3J)��� VI)()��� UVT��� X[NLP@7lGGE�j161R2026.�FEEG71./G6 ((I+KK��� (+IJ()��� VIVV3��� LWNgP:/SS2826./1.2Y�@CDDG8.-�FEEG71./G6 (I)U)��� (I+J(��� HHK��� WNgP&\&�]�]�� ��#�_!��� ��#������ �#�̂"��� q̀b̀d��	������������������$���'@,A�*�B28�BCD/E�FEEG71./G6 (VIU+T��� (3I+HV��� (IU3)��� LLNfP:/SS2826./1.2Y�r22Y-�FEEG71./G6�9:rF; HKITJK��� HJI3HT��� HI+H(��� gNWP?G0DE2s�@CDDG8.-�FEEG71./G6 HI(3V��� HI3HH��� V)K��� X[NfP@D27/1E/t2Y�,uC/D026.�FEEG71./G6�9@,F; HIJ(V��� HIJVH��� K��� ONWP&\&�]���� _�#�!_��� _v#������ _#�!���� q̀bad�������������	�������$���'@7lGGE�pD281./G6-�FEEG71./G6 V(IU+K��� V)IH+V��� HIVJ3��� WNMPeC81E�16Y�rG8.l286�,YC71./G6�FEEG71./G6 +)H��� +J(��� +H��� wNWP&\&�]���� !!#�vv��� !_#x_���� "#__x��� cbad����	���&��������������������$�&�'y816-DG8.1./G6�@28z/72-�FEEG71./G6 HUITTU��� HKIHK)��� HIHUU��� fNwP@7lGGE�oC-�e/Y28�@1S2.Z�y81/6/6R�FEEG71./G6 H(��� (J��� HU��� LWXNXPy816-DG8.1./G6�.G�B8Gz/67/1E�@7lGGE- V)V��� (JU��� 9)3;��� hLMNWPi&\&�]��&� "x#!�"��� "̂#��v��� "#"_̂��� {b{d��������������������������������$����'y8C-.22-�16Y�B1826.�,6R1R2026.�FEEG71./G6 (UH��� (UV��� (��� ON[PoG18Y*o1-2Y�@.1SS/6R�FEEG71./G6 KIHVT��� KI3)T��� +HT��� fNMP?26.81E�,0DEGZ28�o18R1/6/6R�FR267Z�A22-�FEEG71./G6 +J��� 3H��� (��� MNWP:1.1�j161R2026.�16Y�FCY/.�FEEG71./G6 V)J��� V+J��� J��� XNfP:27E/6/6R�,68GE026.�FY|C-.026.�9:,F;�FEEG71./G6 *��� *��� *��� }&\&�]����� #̂̂"���� v#!!!��� ��!��� ~b�d&�����=��	���������� !_�#"_̂��� !̂!#!!���� !̂#"̂x��� `̀b̀d

=��� 	
��������������������������������������������������

� ¡¢¡£¤�¥¦§§ ̈̈¤¤�©¤¤̈ ¡ª «¬¡¤�®�̄°̄± ²¢ª¤�³́�¦µ�̄±
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 71 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
���������������������������������	��
���������	�	��	�������	��	�����	��	���� ����!"#�����$%��� ��	�����&��������' ��� 	�����	���	��()*(+,-./01.2- (+*(3,-./01.2- 4����567821-2�9:27821-2;<����567821-2�9:27821-2;=��� 	�������>���=�������?�����	�@7ABBC�D262E1C (FGHI��� (FGHI��� *��� JKJLM20NB818O�P77B00BQ1./B6 R+G��� SHG��� 3ST��� UVWKXL@AB8.*.280�56.282-. (SH��� RFR(S��� S)+��� VYYKZL:2[.�\]6Q/6̂ �_B8�̀1N/.1C (F3+G��� (F)3H��� 9RG3;��� aXKULbc/6B8�M16̂ /[C2�̀1N/.1C�P--2.-�90M̀ P; 9RF3HT;��� 9RF3TT;��� HT��� aZKdLb&�����=�������?�����	�������� e#e�f��� �#g�g��� "#!�h��� ijklmn��	��o���=��	����������D2-NB6-/p2�,Q]71./B6�q8B̂ 810-�9D,q; HFS(T��� HFS)H��� (H��� JKWL\]6Q/6̂ �_B8�,r.2861C�q18.628-�9\,q; R+F)TS��� (F)IS��� 9R(FGHT;��� adsKYLb&�����o���=��	���������� "h#��f��� �#!�"��� $"�#h�g'��� tuvkwmxn��	��o����������	�	��	�,Q]71./B6�@28p/72�P̂ 822026.-�*�@/r�y1./B6- +FSHI��� 3F3+3��� SRS��� ZUKJL,Q]71./B6�@28p/72�P̂ 822026.-�*�c \̀y 3TI��� +HH��� 9I+;��� aZVKULbz.A28�\22- RGG��� R+T��� 9+T;��� aV{KZLbz.A28�|B18Q- HTH��� HTH��� *��� JKJLB̀00]6/.O�}-2�~�D26.1C- SHS��� GT3��� 3S��� dKZLc/-72CC162B]-�D2p26]2- RF3R)��� RF)S)��� 9RHT;��� adKZLb&�����o����������	�	��	� h#!hf��� "�#�!���� �!"��� ukvm
	>	��	���	�	��	�D2p26]2�D27Bp28O�B6�PDz )3H��� *��� 9)3H;��� aZJJKJLbP0B8./�1./B6�B_�:̀ ` RSF3+3��� RGFGSH��� RFH(I��� XKZL&�����
	>	��	���	�	��	 "h#""h��� "h#hf!��� f�e��� �k�m&n&�������o��� !hg#!����� e��#e!���� �f#"!e��� vkwm

������������������������������������������

 ¡¢£¢¤¥�¦§̈ ¨¡©©¥¥�ª¥¥©¡¢« ¬¢¥�®̄�°±°² ³£«¥�́®�§µ�°²
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 72 of 80

lkay
Text Box



��������	
� �	
��������������������� �	
����������������� ���!�����"�!�� �	
����#�����������$�������������������� ���! �	
��%������������&"�!��' �	
��(�)�**��+������������,����-��� �	
��.���������/��������������������0+!����-�� �	
��1���������������������&�������2�0+!����'3 �	
��4����5�+����+���������33)�������* �6 � �6 � 78996 � :8996 � ;<8996�������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �)���������&���?��+!���-��' �6 � �6 � ;78996�������������� =>8996������������� >98996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �@�A���2B@������C�)�**����&/��*' �6 � �6 � D8996 � ;>8996�������������� E98996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �@�A���2B@������C�)�**����&0�+' �6 � �6 � ;=8>96 � ==8996������������� 798996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �0��C����2*B��������* �6 � �6 � ;98>96�������������� =98996������������� 798996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �0��C��&/��*�����2' �6 � �6 � ;=8>96 � =>8996������������� >98996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �0��C��&0�+�����2' �6 � �6 � ;F8>96��������������� E>8996������������� F98996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �G��A����2* �6 � �6 � ;<8996�������������� E=8996������������� <98996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �H�������2* �6 � �6 � ==8996������������� 778996������������� :98996������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �H��+I����B���J���� �6 � �6 � 78996 � :8996 � ;<8996�������������� �6 � �6 � =8>96 �)���������J������K����+�����)���� ;99K =>K =>K >9K ;99K 9K 9K 9K0������2����<�*���L����2�5��� >=8>96�������������� ;E8;E6 � ;E8;E6 � =<8=>6�������������� >=8>96�������������� �6 � �6 � �6 �0����2�B�0��8�������<�*���L����2�5��� F98996������������� ;F8>96��������������� ;F8>96��������������� E>8996������������� F98996������������� �6 � �6 � �6 ����*�������+������J�� �6 ���� �6=>899������*�M�*�*����6;99�����2���� �6=>899������*�M�*�*����6;99�����2���� �6=>899������*�M�*�*����6;99�����2���� �6=>899������*�M�*�*����6;99�����2���� �6 � �6 � �6 �

NOP�Q	�R
ST��SUV�W�U�SQ�X��Y�Z[\\�T��]��R�
��� �̂���_�%̀ %1��O�aPU��(̀ _�%̀ %4b

NOP�Q	�cPY�OV�SQ�X��Y�Z[\\�T��]��R�
��� �̂���_�%̀ %1��O�aPU��(̀ _�%̀ %4bd�U��P��ceS�f��g�%h1�NOP�Y�ZcOY��TOU\����V�i��e�U�
�����b
�QQ�\��Y�S���YP̂ j�T���O�NR���������kX��Y�YP̂ j�T���O��e��Q����Y�O\�d�U�Y��	�O\�[VPTS��OU����O���	�RTeOOQ�XPUV�UfhkkX��Y�\O���	
��4���W�T�
�OTSQ�\��Y�S���l%h%1�PU��Q�m�T�� �̂��(�_�%̀ %1�SUV�i�QQ��UT��SY���O�l%h1̀ �SY�O\�aSUPS�	�%̀ %4h

noopqrst�uvwxwy�z{y|}~��}�}����}�~�����}��

������������������������� ������������ �������������
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 73 of 80



���������	�
���������������������������������	��
����������������������	��	�����	��	��������� !"���������	�����	���	��#$%#&'()*+,)-( #&%#.�'()*+,)-( /-01-2),3-�45�64),7�86' 9����:210-,(-�;<-10-,(-=>����:210-,(-�;<-10-,(-=?���������@���������6-,1A-0( BCD.EF&��� BCDDBF$��� &EF$> #FG��� HF#>',07I�JA*7KA44K�'KL1,)40( B#GFH��� BM$FH��� $F$> &FH��� MFG>'KL1,)*42,7�N((*(),2)( M.EFH��� MDMFH��� B#FM> &FH��� BF$>O�����@��������� �"���P���� �"�QRPS��� Q�P�T !�PU��� �P�TV���?��������W1A447�NK+*2*()0,)*42 #M$FG��� #M&FG��� DFE> BFH��� HF$>X4,0K�NK+*2*()0,)*42 D&FH��� D&FH��� #F&> %��� HFH>8,1*7*)I�W-0Y*1-( ##GFB��� #MHF.��� DF.> BF&��� HFD>J440K*2,)40(�Z�J42(L7),2)( $#FH��� M.FH��� BF#> ;.FH=��� ;B$FM>=/,0,[045-((*42,7( &EF&��� .HFH��� #FH> BF&��� #F.>JA*7K�Z�\4L)A�]40̂-0( #GFH��� MHF&��� BFH> BF&��� &F#>:6�W),55 M&FH��� M&FH��� BF#> %��� HFH>_*̀0,0I B#FE��� BMF#��� HF$> HF$��� MF$>60,2([40),)*42 DFH��� DFH��� HF#> %��� HFH>a)A-0�WL[[40) .FH��� DFH��� HF#> BFH��� B.FD>J42)*2L*23�'K EFB��� EFB��� HFM> %��� HFH>60L()--( B&FH��� B&FH��� HF&> %��� HFH>O�����V���?�������� Q��P ��� Q� P���� �SPRT �PU��� �P!TObO�c��O���@V�  "�!QPR���  "� !P���� !��P�T ! PU��� �P�T

?����	
deefghij�klmnmo�pqorst�usvswxyzs{t�|}x~s��

������������������������� ������������ �������������
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 74 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
���������������������������������	��
�����������	��	�������	��	�����	��	��������� !"�����#$������	�����%��������& ����	�����	���	��'()'*+,-./0-1, '*)'2+,-./0-1, 314516-071�89�:8-0;�+<=16,1, >����?65410,1�@A15410,1BC����?65410,1�@A15410,1BD���������E���������:105F14, GH*IJ'(��� 'GHIKH2��� LMNLO 'JIPP'��� MQNQO 0RST==;U�:105F14, VIK'*��� VIPKP��� QNWO 2V'��� XNLO YR+ZT50-.860;�[,,.,-06-, ''IVVG��� 'JI2PJ��� LN\O PH'��� ]NLO 5R+04;U�̂F.;ZF88Z�+ZT50-84, VI(2(��� HIK*G��� QNMO *VP��� \N_O;̂0,,488/�̂8/=T-14, *I('(��� *IP'K��� MN]O 'H2��� LNLO:1<-Y88̀,�06Z�ST==;.1, HI*K(��� HIV*H��� QN]O J*2��� ]NaO34891,,.860;,�06Z�3040=4891,,.860;, GJIJGG��� G(I*(*��� ]NbO GI'J(��� _N]O ZRc.Y404U�06Z�dT.Z0651 *IP'K��� 2I(G2��� MNLO 2H2��� MQNQO ZRS-099�A1e1;8=/16- GIJJH��� GIGJP��� WN]O @'K'B��� fMLNMOg 1RA1=04-/16-�h10Z, (KH��� (KH��� WNMO )��� WNWO%�����E��������� �i�"j����� �kl"�!j��� mnopq �l"�!���� rnosqt���D��������34.65.=0;�06Z�u.51)34.65.=0;, G*IHKP��� GVI22*��� bNbO 'IP*V��� MaN]O 9RS5F88;�v99.51 VI*'*��� VIP('��� QNMO 'GP��� QNLO8̂84Z.60-84,�w�̂86,T;-06-, 2IK2H��� *IVGG��� MNbO @'*PB��� fbNQOg8̂6-.6T.67�+ZT50-.86 GI*2J��� GI*GK��� WNbO @*JB��� f]NbOg%�����t���D��������  �"������  j"i�k��� xopq �"������ xoyq��������������:4T,-11, JV'��� JVP��� WNMO (��� MNMOA.415-84zST=14e.,84U�v99.514, GI22'��� GI2V2��� WNbO '*��� MNLO{804Z�[Z/.6.,-40-.86 PIJV'��� VI('P��� QNWO GIK(2��� MbNQO ZR%������������������� k"j����� !�"��!��� po|q !"�i���� rrosq%������������� !l"i! ��� !l"i����� sosq #!�&��� }norq~�����������������S5F88;�v=140-.86,�06Z��0.6-160651 JKI('K��� JGIP2*��� aNLO GIJ(*��� bNbO 7RS5F88;��161�0; JI''*��� (IKH2��� MNWO VPG��� QaNWO FRv-F14�3T=.;�[558//8Z0-.86 JI*(G��� JIHKG��� WN_O J*H��� MWNMO .R[/84-.�0-.86�w��4.-1)Z8�6, GHIPV*��� 'KIPJ(��� bN_O H(H��� bNXO �R%���������������������� ��"ki!��� ��"jk���� rsopq  "������ �opqt�����	������ �"j ���� �" kj��� no�q # �&��� }ro|q~��������������D������	��	� i"�k���� ���� nonq #i"�k�&��� }rnnonq~ R̀%�%�������t
E%����  ki" ����� j��"j ���� rnnonq �l"! ���� morq

D����	 �0-14.0;�u04.0651��8-1
����������������������� �¡�¢£¤¥�¦��§̈£©�ªª

«¬®̄°�±²³³¬́́°°�µ°°́¬¶ ·̧°�¹º�»¼»½ ¾®¶°�»»�²¿�»½
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 75 of 80

lkay
Text Box



���������	�
���������������������������������	��
�����������	��	�������	��	�����	��	��������� !"�������������������#�$��	��������	������	�%�����	���&�&&�&	&#&�&�&�&'&(&)*+,-./-�01�/21,0�0-,3�41.*�5*0-,-/0�./�.�,-/640�17�5*+,-./-8�91,,1:5*;�86,5*;�/+2114�96548/<�177/-0�-*05,-4=�9=�3.0+25*;�,->-*6-?@-+,-./-�86-�01�,-31>.4�17�A5*5/0,=�B,-/+,59-8�B,1>5/51*/�,-4.0-8�01�.*05+5B.0-8�:.;-�5*+,-./-/?
)*+,-./-�86-�01�.885051*�17�C?D�+4.//,113�0-.+2-,/E�;,58�B,1;,-//51*�./�:-44�./�+13B-*/.051*�5*+,-./-/�./�.�,-/640�17�F544�GCH�.*8�,.0575+.051*?�I02-,�5*+,-./-/�5*+468-�9-*-750/�3.J5363�5*+,-./-/�KLMME�N)O�.*8�PQ)F?)*+,-./-�./�.�,-/640�17�9-*+23.,R�5*+,-./-/�01�+13B-*/.051*?@-+,-./-�./�.�,-/640�17�+2.*;-/�5*�02-�8-45>-,=�17�B,17-//51*.4�8->-41B3-*0?)*+,-./-�./�.�,-/640�17�9-*+23.,R�5*+,-./-/�01�+13B-*/.051*�./�:-44�./�31>-3-*0�17�/+2114�.835*5/0,.01,/�5*01�GCS31*02�,14-/?�)*+,-./-�.4/1�5*+468-/�1*-�.885051*.4�B,5*+5B.4�71,�*-:�/+2114?)*+,-./-�./�.�,-/640�17�9-*+23.,R�5*+,-./-/�01�+13B-*/.051*E�.885051*.4�-JB-*/-/�,-4.0-8�01�/-,>5+-�+1*0,.+0/�./�:-44�./�5*>-/03-*0/�5*�*-:�>-25+4-/�01�,-B4.+-�.;5*;�74--0?
)*+,-./-�86-�01�25;2-,�.*05+5B.0-8�.9/-*0--5/3�+1/0/�./�:-44�./�.885051*.4�+13B-*/.051*?)*+,-./-�./�.�,-/640�17�T�.885051*.4�NU�B1/5051*/�.88-8�./�:-44�./�9-*+23.,R�5*+,-./-/�01�+13B-*/.051*?
)*+,-./-�./�.�,-/640�17�.885051*.4�+1/0/�01�/6BB1,0�,-*1>.051*/�.*8�,-B.5,/�01�.;5*;�5*7,./0,6+06,-?)*+,-./-�./�.�,-/640�17�25;2-,�.31,05V.051*�02.*�B,->516/4=�71,-+./0-8?

WXXYZ[\]�̂_̀àb�cdbefg�hfifjklmfng�opkqfrr�stsùsv

wxyzy{|�}~��x��||��||�xy� ��y|�������� �z�|����~����
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 76 of 80

lkay
Text Box



����������	
����	���������������������������� ��� ����� ����� �� !��� ��"#������ �$��� %������� !�$��&�#�����' �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����+ �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����, �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����- �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����. �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����/ �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����0 �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����1 �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����2 �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����'3 �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����'' �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �&�#�����'+ �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( �"�#4����&�#����� �( � �( � �( � )*)��( � )*���(�������������� �( ������4 ��*���(����������� )*���(�������������� �*5��(������������� �( � �( � )5*���(������������+.63337��������� '63337������������ .6,337������������ '-6,337���������� ',63337���������� ',6.337����������

899:;<=>�?@ABAC�DECFGH�IGJGKLMNGOH�PQLRGSS

TUVWVXY�Z[\\U]]YY�̂YY]UV_ àVY�bc�dedf gW_Y�dh�[i�df
Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 77 of 80

lkay
Text Box



Funding Source Project Budget

Asbestos Removal 300,000 
Electrical & Life Safety Systems 850,000 

Elgin Ave PS Renovations 2,250,000 
Heating, Ventilation, Air Conditioning 2,950,000 

Learning Commons Conversions 900,000 
Masonry & Foundation 2,550,000 

Other Renovations & Site Upgrades 750,000 
Paving & Site Restoration 520,000 

Roofing 3,883,125 
School Beautification 585,392 

Security/Camera System Upgrades 136,500 
Window and Door Upgrades 1,475,000 

17,150,017 

Accessibility Upgrades 100,000 
Elgin Ave PS Renovations 2,500,000 

School Beautification 380,843 
School Building & Grounds 135,000 

3,115,843 

10 Year Equipment - 
5 Year Equipment 100,000 

Automobiles 375,000 
Furniture 125,000 
Hardware 1,000,000 

1,600,000 

17,150,017$  
3,115,843$  

1,600,000$  

21,865,860$  

Total School Condition Improvement

Grand Erie District School Board
Capital Budget

2025-26

School Condition 
Improvement

School Renewal

Total School Renewal

Minor Tangible Capital 
Assets

Total Minor Tangible Capital Assets

Total 2025-2026 Capital Budget

Total School Condition Improvement
Total School Renewal

Total Minor Tangible Capital Assets

Appendix FE-1-g Budget Development Process

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 78 of 80



F-1-b

Grand Erie District School Board 

TO: Audit Committee 

FROM: Rafal Wyszynski, Superintendent of Business & Treasurer 

RE: School Audits 2024-25 

DATE: June 12, 2025 

Overview 
To ensure financial accountability and responsibility, Grand Erie District School Board (Grand 
Erie) conducts financial and enrolment compliance audits on its schools to ensure adherence 
to legislation and related policies and procedures. Annually, approximately 10 schools are 
audited by the Business Services Department as part of a rotating schedule of review. There 
are two different types of audits - financial and enrolment: 

• Financial Audits
o Financial audits are conducted to assess the school’s adherence to standard operating

procedures in key financial areas such as cash handling, purchasing, and payments to
vendors and staff. These audits help identify potential risks of financial loss stemming
from error, theft, or fraud. By guiding school staff back to established best practices, it
supports schools by reducing these risks and strengthening financial controls.

o A range of procedures are sampled during the audit. The Administrator(s) will receive
immediate feedback and implement on-the-spot improvements based on suggestions
from the Business Services Department. Any significant findings or concerns are
documented in a formal audit report. This report is emailed to the Administrator(s), who
is asked to acknowledge receipt and either implement the recommendations or
propose alternative measures that align with Grand Erie policies and procedures. The
audit findings are also shared with the respective Family of Schools Superintendent for
their information.

• Enrolment Audits
o Enrolment audits are conducted to ensure that enrolment registers, as well as

procedures related to enrolling, adding, and removing students, are properly
maintained and compliant with the Ministry of Education guidelines. While the focus
differs from financial audits, the underlying goal is similar: assessing and mitigate risk.
In this case, the risk lies not in fraud or theft, but in inaccuracies that could trigger a
Ministry of Education audit and result in significant funding claw backs.

o Following the audit, a summary of recommendations is sent to the Administrator(s).
Administrator(s) are required to acknowledge the findings and confirm their intent to
follow Grand Erie procedures.

In early 2025, a dedicated session was held with Grand Erie’s PowerSchool team to build 
understanding of enrolment register functionality. The team also consulted with other school 
boards' operating enrolment audit programs to gain insights and understand best practices. 
As a result, the Business Services team Is now better equipped with a clear approach, a Ministry 
of Education supplied audit template, and confidence to preform enrolment audits going 
forward. 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 79 of 80



F-1-b School Audits 2024-25  Page 2 

2024-25 Audit Results 
In Spring 2025, Grand Erie conducted comprehensive financial audits across 10 schools (8 
elementary and 2 secondary). These audits were designed to ensure adherence to financial 
guidelines and identify systemic vulnerabilities. The findings have been communicated to 
Administrators. This report summarizes key findings, categorizing them by risk levels and 
proposing actionable guidelines.  
 
The financial audits evaluated four primary areas of concern:  
1. Revenue and Receipts: Ensuring adherence to cash counting procedures, proper recording 

of fundraising activities, and effective use of the Cashless System.  
2. Expenditures and Disbursements: Verifying that cheques are issued with appropriate 

approvals and that supporting documentation is adequately retained.  
3. Monthly Reporting: Confirming that bank reconciliations are current, reviewed, and 

promptly signed by the Administrator.  
4. Operational Review: Assessing compliance with Grand Erie guidelines, including petty 

cash, HST, gift cards, and reimbursement protocols. 
 
The audit findings were categorized into three risk levels:  
 
• Red (High Risk): Best practices are not followed, posing a significant risk of loss. 

o Cash locked up, but the key's location is widely known (1 school).  
o Absence of documentation accompanying cash collections (1 school).  
o Cash collected at the beginning of the year repurposed as a float for other events (1 

school).  
o Cash payments issued to students for services (e.g., scorekeeping) (1 school).  

 
• Yellow (Moderate Risk): Deviations from best practices result in moderate risk.  

o Delayed cash deposits, increasing risk exposure (3 schools).  
o Items not posted on School Cash Online, resulting in unnecessary cash handling (2 

schools).  
o Price discrepancies between cash and online transactions (1 school).  
o Blank cheques inadequately secured (1 school).  
o Cash accepted for items listed on School Cash Online (1 school).  
o Bank reconciliations completed but not signed by the Administrator (1 school).  
o Personal staff purchases instead of using Grand Erie Purchase Card (pCard) or 

accounts, increasing reimbursement volume (1 school). 
 

• Green (Low Risk): Full adherence to best practices with minimal risk exposure.  
 
Next Steps 
This audit report underscores critical areas requiring immediate attention to mitigate risks and 
ensure compliance with best practices. By implementing the proposed actions, schools can 
enhance their financial integrity and operational efficiency. A follow-up audit is recommended 
in the upcoming fiscal year to assess progress and address any remaining issues. 
 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Rafal Wyszynski  
Superintendent of Business & Treasurer 

Audit Committee Meeting June 12, 2025 Page 80 of 80


	AGENDA
	B-1_AC_Report_Consent_Agenda.pdf
	C-1-a Audit Reports – Recommendations Tracking
	D-1-b_RIAT - GEDSB Internal Audit Planning Materials (06.09.2025).pdf
	Slide 1: KPMG Regional Internal Audit   2025-2027 IA Plan  Grand Erie District School Board
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Overview of the IA Planning Process
	Slide 4: Overview of Internal Audit (IA) Plan
	Slide 5: Internal Audit Planning – Our Three Step Process
	Slide 6: Summary of Risk Survey Results
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11: Proposed IA Plan
	Slide 12: Internal Audit Plan Development
	Slide 13: Internal Audit Planning 
	Slide 14
	Slide 15: Appendices
	Slide 16: Appendix A: Other Considerations
	Slide 17
	Slide 18: Appendix B: Risk Driver Analysis
	Slide 19: Overview of Risk Survey Results
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23

	E-1-a_Engagement and Planning Letter
	F-1-a Budget Developement 2025-26
	F-1-b School Audits 2024-25
	App F - 2025-26 Capital Budget.pdf
	Budget




